AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

Ryan P. Cole for the degree of <u>Master of Science</u> in <u>Water Resources Science</u> presented on <u>March</u> 6, 2020

Title: <u>Post-fire Forest Management Activities Alter Soil Properties, Sediment Yields, and</u> <u>Vegetation Recovery in the Northern California Coast Range.</u>

Abstract approved: _____

Kevin D. Bladon

The extent and severity of wildfires in forested regions are increasing throughout many regions on the planet, including western North America. High-severity wildfires directly affect soils and vegetation by altering soil hydraulic properties, reducing soil organic matter, exporting carbon and nitrogen, and killing trees and understory vegetation. These impacts can increase runoff, erosion, and sediment delivery to streams, producing a range of impacts on terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems and downstream source water quantity and quality. Due to the broad range of post-fire threats, land managers often undertake active post-fire land management (e.g., salvage logging, subsoiling, revegetation) to promote forest regeneration and maintain forest and aquatic ecosystem functions. However, the magnitude and longevity of effects from wildfire and the various post-fire land management approaches remains uncertain.

Here, I present results from a study, which quantified and compared sediment yields eroded from (a) burned, (b) burned and salvage logged, (c) burned, salvage logged, and subsoiled, (d) burned, salvage logged, and pre-emergent herbicide, (e) burned, salvage logged, and foliar herbicide, and (f) burned, salvage logged, subsoiled, and pre-emergent herbicide plots in the northern California Coast Range. We constructed 25 sediment fences on four hillslopes that burned at high severity in the 2015 Valley Fire. We quantified sediment yields from the upslope contributing area to each silt fence (\sim 75 m²). We also quantified ground cover, precipitation, soil properties, and canopy cover from areas representative of each plot. In the second year after the fire, sediment yields were ~4- to 10-times greater in the burned plots compared to the salvage logged or subsoiled plots. By the third and fourth years after fire, there was no statistical evidence for a difference in sediment yields among the six site types. In general, we observed higher sediment yields across all site types following precipitation events with greater amounts or intensities. Our results suggested sediment yields were greater from sites with greater canopy closure and more exposed bare soil. Salvage logging operations initially increased soil bulk density, but by the fourth year, bulk density was similar among all site types. Sediment yields in all site types decreased over the course of the study and stabilized by the fourth post-fire year, which may be indicative of site recovery or exhaustion of easily mobile sediment.

We also present results from a related study, in which we quantified differences in soil carbon, nitrogen, carbon/nitrogen (C:N) ratios, and vegetation recovery from three of the post-fire management strategies, including: (a) burned, (b) burned and salvage logged, and (c) burned, salvage logged, and subsoiled sites. We collected 180 soil samples from two depths (0–5 cm and 5–10 cm) and 27 vegetation samples across sites burned at high severity representative of the three post-fire management strategies. We also collected samples to quantify soil carbon, nitrogen, and C:N ratios in eroded sediment from hillslope sediment fences. The eroded sediment and soils in the burned sites had C:N ratios ~9–22 % lower than in the salvage logged or subsoiled sites. Interestingly, both carbon and nitrogen concentrations were greater in the more heavily disturbed sites. In other words, C and N concentrations in soils were generally ranked as: burned, salvage logged, and subsoiled > burned and salvage logged and ~6-times greater than

subsoiled sites. Coarse wood cover in our erosion plots was positively correlated with C:N ratios from our eroded sediment, but vegetation cover was not correlated with carbon, nitrogen, or C:N ratios. These results suggest that salvage logging may increase soil C:N ratios by increasing the coarse wood input to the forest floor, which may negatively impact vegetation recovery three years after fire by suppressing plant available nitrogen. Post-fire forest regeneration is critically important to increase carbon storage and clean water supply in disturbed forest ecosystems, so forest management practices should not exacerbate sediment transport or limit vegetation recovery.

©Copyright by Ryan P. Cole March 6, 2020 All Rights Reserved Post-fire Forest Management Activities Alter Soil Properties, Sediment Yields, and Vegetation Recovery in the Northern California Coast Range

> by Ryan P. Cole

A THESIS

submitted to

Oregon State University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Presented March 6, 2020 Commencement June 2020 Master of Science thesis of Ryan P. Cole presented on March 6, 2020

APPROVED:

Major Professor, representing Water Resources Science

Director of the Water Resources Graduate Program

Dean of the Graduate School

I understand that my thesis will become part of the permanent collection of Oregon State University libraries. My signature below authorizes release of my thesis to any reader upon request.

Ryan P. Cole, Author

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I'd like to thank Dr. Kevin Bladon for guiding me through essentially my entire research career until now. You have been an outstanding mentor, and without you, I may never have discovered my passion for research. You've helped me improve as a critical thinker and, hopefully, as a writer. I would also like to thank those on my committee: Dr. Joe Wagenbrenner, Dr. Jeff Hatten, and Dr. John Bailey for your expertise and feedback on my research project.

Thank you to the US Forest Service and CAL FIRE, two agencies that made this project possible through funding, logistical support, and site access. I specifically thank Drew Coe of CAL FIRE for his project management abilities, assistance with study design, and companionship on some of the fence cleanouts. I also thank Dr. Joe Wagenbrenner as more than just a committee member, but one of the people who helped run the show down at Boggs. You were another key member of getting this project off the ground in the beginning, and you continued to provide support in the field and lab. We thank the California Geological Survey and the Central Valley Water Quality Control Board for supporting this work. This work was funded by California's Timber Regulation and Forest Restoration Fund (TRFRF), and California Climate Investment (CCI) Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund (GGRF).

Thanks to all of those who supported this research in the field and the lab, including Don Lindsay, Will Olsen, Sergio Prats, Maruxa Malvar, Noah Kanzig, Aaron Rachels, John Deane, Kylie Brooks, Julian Kirchler, Chris Faubion, Megan Arnold, and Diane Sutherland.

I extend my thanks to the FEWS Lab and Water Resources group for supporting me throughout my research. Especially those of you who are in the Snell Crew. We have shared this office space my entire time here and I cannot imagine having shared our home away from home with anyone else.

CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

 $Ryan\ P.\ Cole:\ Conceptualization,\ Methodology,\ Formal\ analysis,\ Investigation,\ Writing-$

Original Draft, Writing – Review & Editing, Visualization.

Kevin D. Bladon: Conceptualization, Funding Acquisition, Methodology, Resources, Writing -

Review & Editing, Visualization, Supervision, Project Administration.

Joe Wagenbrenner: Conceptualization, Funding Acquisition, Methodology, Investigation,

Resources, Writing - Review & Editing, Project Administration.

Drew Coe: Conceptualization, Funding Acquisition, Methodology, Investigation, Writing -

Review & Editing, Project Administration.

Jeff Hatten: Methodology, Resources, Writing – Review & Editing.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

				<u>i az</u> c		
1	Intr	odu	ction	1		
	1.1	Ref	erences	6		
2	Hil	Hillslope sediment production after wildfire and post-fire forest management in northern				
Ca	liforn	ia		11		
	2.1	Intr	oduction	11		
	2.2	Me	thods	14		
	2.2	.1	Site Description	14		
	2.2	.2	Post-fire management	15		
	2.2	.3	Plot Characterization	17		
	2.2	.4	Statistical Analyses	19		
	2.3	Res	ults	20		
	2.3	.1	Hillslope Sediment Yields	20		
	2.3	.2	Precipitation	22		
	2.3	.3	Ground Cover and Canopy Closure	23		
	2.3	.4	Soil Bulk Density, Hydraulic Conductivity, and Water Repellency	25		
	2.3	.5	Relative importance of erosion controlling factors	27		
	2.4	Dis	cussion	28		
	2.4	.1	Sediment Yields	28		
	2.4	.2	Principal Drivers of Erosion	31		
	2.4	.3	Management Implications	34		
	2.5	Ref	erences	37		
	2.6	Fig	ures	45		
3	Pos	st-fir	e forest management influences mineral soil carbon, nitrogen, and vegetation			

recover	у	
3.1	Introduction	
3.2	Methods	55
3.2	2.1 Site Description	55

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

3	.2.2	Post-fire management	56
3	.2.3	Soil and Vegetation Sample Collection	57
3	.2.4	Laboratory Processing	58
3	.2.5	Statistical Analyses	59
3.3	Res	sults	59
3	.3.1	Soil Carbon and Nitrogen	59
3	.3.2	Sediment Fence Carbon and Nitrogen	62
3	.3.3	Aboveground Vegetation Biomass and Ground Cover	63
3.4	Dis	scussion	64
3.5	Ret	ferences	70
3.6	Fig	ures	77
4 S	ynthe	sis	. 82

LIST OF FIGURES

<u>Figure</u> Page
Figure 2.1 Burn severity map of Boggs Mountain Demonstration State Forest (BMDSF) with rain gauges and locations of blocks of silt fences. Inset map shows location of 2015 Valley Fire in California.
Figure 2.2 Annual plot sediment yields from silt fences from burned sites and two physical post- fire treatments for three water years (2016-2018). Water year 2016 was measured before post- fire management treatments were applied. All sediment yields were observed before influence of herbicide treatments in summer 2018. Y-axis is log transformed
Figure 2.3 Annual plot sediment yields from silt fences from burned sites and five post-fire management treatments for water year 2019. Y-axis is log transformed
Figure 2.4 Mean fraction of ground cover and standard errors for burned sites and two physical post-fire management treatments from water years 2017 and 2018. Measurement of ground cover occurred before application of herbicide treatments in spring and summer 2018. Ground cover was measured during spring 2017 and 2018, early in the growing season
Figure 2.5 Mean fraction of ground cover and standard errors for burned sites and five post-fire management treatments from water year 2019. Unlike water years 2017 and 2018, ground cover was measured in June 2019, later in the growing season
Figure 2.6 Mean soil bulk density and 95% CI from burned sites and two physical post-fire management treatments (Logged and Subsoiled) over two depths (0–5 cm, 5–10 cm) for water years 2018 and 2019
Figure 2.7 Erosion pedestals near the trunk of a standing snag indicating raindrop splash erosion, which may have been an important driver of high sediment yields in burned plots
Figure 3.1 Burn severity map of Boggs Mountain Demonstration State Forest (BMDSF) with rain gauges and locations of blocks of silt fences. Inset map shows location of 2015 Valley Fire in California.
Figure 3.2 Mean C:N ratio and 95 % confidence intervals of soil at two depths (September 2018) and eroded sediment from silt fences (2018–2019). Letters show statistically significant differences at alpha = 0.05
Figure 3.3 Mean carbon concentration (%) and 95% confidence intervals at two soil depths and in sediment. Letters show statistically significant differences at $alpha = 0.05$
Figure 3.4 Mean Nitrogen concentration (%) and 95 % confidence intervals in soils at two depths and sediment. Letters indicate statistically significant differences at $alpha = 0.05$
Figure 3.5 Mean vegetation biomass and 95 % confidence intervals for three post-fire site types. Letters indicate statistically significant differences at $alpha = 0.05$

1 Introduction

Wildfire activity has increased dramatically in western North America according to recent analysis of burned area (Flannigan et al., 2009; Moritz et al., 2012; Reilly et al., 2017; Westerling, 2016). In addition, fire seasons have expanded earlier in the fall and later in the spring, with some regions of the Earth, including parts of western North America, now prone to catastrophic wildfires year-round (Westerling, 2016; Westerling and Bryant, 2008). Increased wildfire activity in the western US has been linked to changing climate, past fire suppression, and increased forest stocking (Abatzoglou and Williams, 2016). Expansion of human development into the wildland-urban interface may also make these fires more destructive to human property (Mann et al., 2014). Despite these shifts in the fire regime, dendrochronological evidence suggests forested landscapes in the western US have the potential to burn at greater rates than we are currently experiencing (Murphy et al., 2018). Wildfire is an important disturbance shaping landscapes and ecosystems (Keeley *et al.*, 2011), but high-severity fire can negatively impact forest ecosystems and human infrastructure linked to ecosystem services forests provide (Emelko et al., 2011; Keeley and Brennan, 2012; Vukomanovic and Steelman, 2019).

Fire impacts on soils and hillslope processes often amplify runoff and sediment delivery from burned forests can also lead to changes in stream geomorphology (Shakesby and Doerr, 2006), community structure of aquatic ecosystems (Arkle *et al.*, 2010; McCormick *et al.*, 2010), and water supplies for downstream communities (Bladon *et al.*, 2014; Emelko *et al.*, 2011; Smith *et al.*, 2011). Ash and sediment transported in streams after wildfire can impair water quality for many in-stream species including fish and aquatic invertebrates by reducing dissolved oxygen and pH (Bixby *et al.*, 2015; Minshall, 2003). Furthermore, post-fire flooding can scour stream substrates and remove organisms, while flooding or sediment deposition can modify physical stream habitat (Bixby *et al.*, 2015). Sediment, ash and organics can also impair drinking water quality downstream of burned areas and create costly challenges for the drinking water treatment process (Bladon *et al.*, 2014; Hohner *et al.*, 2017, 2019).

Additionally, fire directly reduces ecosystem stocks of carbon and nitrogen through combustion and volatilization, (Bormann *et al.*, 2008; Grier, 1975; Neary *et al.*, 2005; Urbanski, 2014), while after fire carbon and nitrogen are exported from burned forests via high rates of sediment transport, leaching and increased soil respiration (Robichaud *et al.*, 2016; Smith *et al.*, 2011; Wondzell and King, 2003). Soil carbon and nitrogen are critically important predictors of forest productivity across the globe (Edmonds and Chappell, 1994; LeBauer and Treseder, 2008; McLaughlin and Phillips, 2006), so loss of these nutrients may negatively impact forest recovery after wildfire. Post-fire salvage logging may limit nutrient availability by removing wood, a critical source of carbon and nitrogen in burned forests (Marañón-Jiménez *et al.*, 2013; Marañón-Jiménez and Castro, 2013). In addition, post-fire salvage logging may inhibit recovery of soil microbes and depress genes related to nitrogen cycling, further impacting soil nutrient cycling in the critical post-fire period (Busse *et al.*, 2006; Pereg *et al.*, 2018).

Land managers have the critical job of mitigating these post-fire threats to water and soils. Active post-fire management often includes emergency hillslope stabilization, erosion mitigation, and vegetation restoration to promote regeneration and maintain ecosystem function (Leverkus *et al.*, 2018; Robichaud *et al.*, 2000). Post-fire salvage logging is a common management approach that is purported to recover economic value from burned timber resources, improve forest worker and visitor safety, reduce woody fuel loads, mitigate pest

outbreaks, and facilitate post-fire revegetation efforts (Donato *et al.*, 2013; Malvar *et al.*, 2017; Müller *et al.*, 2018). Some efforts, such as mulching or grass seeding, combine with salvage logging practices to limit erosion in post-fire environments (Foltz and Wagenbrenner, 2010; Prats *et al.*, 2019; Schmeer *et al.*, 2018). Plowing furrows along hillslope contour may be used to decrease soil bulk density, break up hardpans, improve conditions for root development of newly established vegetation, and reduce runoff and erosion potential (Carlson *et al.*, 2006; Morris and Lowery, 1988; Robichaud *et al.*, 2000; Will and Jacobson, 2002). Land managers may plant trees to promote forest recovery and apply herbicide to suppress competition from non-native or emergent understory vegetation (Munson *et al.*, 2015; Ouzts *et al.*, 2015; Powers and Ferrell, 1996; Powers and Reynolds, 1999).

However, scientific research into post-fire forest management strategies is limited, leading to continued debate about potential benefits and tradeoffs (Dellasala *et al.*, 2006; Donato *et al.*, 2006; Leverkus *et al.*, 2012; McIver and Starr, 2000). For example, post-fire salvage logging may reduce woody fuel loads in burned forests (Donato *et al.*, 2013; Peterson *et al.*, 2015), but post-fire forest management has also been linked to increased re-burn severity (Thompson *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, while removing standing and downed large wood may eliminate important structural components that can help facilitate the recovery of terrestrial and aquatic systems (Lindenmayer and Noss, 2006; Maia *et al.*, 2014; May and Gresswell, 2003), post-fire forest management practices can support hydrologic recovery in some ecosystems (Niemeyer *et al.*, 2020). Salvage logging on burned soils has the potential to compound site disturbance and soil compaction (McIver and Starr, 2001; Wagenbrenner *et al.*, 2016), leading to enhanced post-fire runoff, erosion, and sediment delivery to streams with negative consequences for soil fertility, vegetation recovery, and aquatic ecosystem health (Karr *et al.*, 2004; Wagenbrenner *et al.*, 2015). Many post-fire management practices are purported to ameliorate the impacts of fire (McIver and Starr, 2000), but research on the short- and long-term effects is limited, especially in mixed-conifer forests of the northern California Coast Range.

Given recent trends towards larger, more severe wildfires in western North America and across the globe, it is crucial to improve our understanding of the efficacy of post-fire forest management approaches at mitigating erosion and facilitating vegetation recovery. The objective of this research was to understand the effects of post-fire forest management on erosion, soil hydraulic properties, soil carbon and nitrogen, and vegetation recovery on hillslopes burned at high severity. To accomplish this we set up two studies on hillslopes burned at high severity by the Valley Fire in northern California Coast Range. We present the results of these studies in the following chapters:

In Chapter 2, we used data from 25 sediment fences on four burned and salvage logged hillslopes at Boggs Mountain Demonstration State Forest to compare impacts of five post-fire management treatments on sediment yields, soil physical and hydraulic properties, and ground cover compared to a burned and unlogged reference during the first four years (2016–2019) after the 2015 Valley Fire. For the first three post-fire years, we assessed the impact of two physical post-fire management site types: salvage logging, and salvage logging followed by subsoiling. In the fourth post-fire year, we assessed the additional impact of herbicide on salvage logged plots, and salvage logged and subsoiled plots. Our study quantified the differences in sediment yields among management site types and analyzed the principal drivers controlling erosion at our site.

In Chapter 3, we present our study investigating the effects of wildfire and post-fire land management on key soil nutrients and vegetation recovery. As part of that study, we collected 360 soil samples for analysis of total carbon and total nitrogen, and 27 vegetation samples from a burned reference and two physical post-fire management site types (salvage logged and subsoiled) on one burned hillslope. We also collected sediment subsamples for total carbon and total nitrogen from our sediment fences during water years 2018 and 2019. We used these data to analyze impacts of post-fire forest management on carbon, nitrogen, and carbon/nitrogen (C:N) ratios in soils and eroded sediment. We also attempted to link carbon and nitrogen in soils and sediments with vegetation cover, vegetation biomass, and downed wood cover to determine post-fire forest management impacts on soil nutrients and vegetation recovery.

In Chapter 4, we synthesize the overall findings from our two data chapters and draw conclusions from our research about the range of potential impacts of wildfire and post-fire forest management on sediment yields, soil physical and hydraulic properties, soil carbon and nitrogen, and vegetation recovery. We also discuss potential limitations of our research and recommend modifications to our research approach if these studies were repeated in different burned forests. Finally, we provide some future research directions regarding the effects of wildfire and the efficacy of post-fire forest management.

1.1 References

- Abatzoglou JT, Williams AP. 2016. Impact of anthropogenic climate change on wildfire across western US forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **113** : 11770–11775. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1607171113.
- Arkle RS, Pilliod DS, Strickler K. 2010. Fire, flow and dynamic equilibrium in stream macroinvertebrate communities. *Freshwater Biology* 55 : 299–314. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02275.x.
- Bixby RJ, Cooper SD, Gresswell RE, Brown LE, Dahm CN, Dwire KA. 2015. Fire effects on aquatic ecosystems: an assessment of the current state of the science. *Freshwater Science* 34 : 1340–1350. DOI: 10.1086/684073.
- Bladon KD, Emelko MB, Silins U, Stone M. 2014. Wildfire and the Future of Water Supply. *Environmental Science & Technology* **48** : 8936–8943. DOI: 10.1021/es500130g.
- Bormann BT, Homann PS, Darbyshire RL, Morrissette BA. 2008. Intense forest wildfire sharply reduces mineral soil C and N: the first direct evidence. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **38** : 2771–2783. DOI: 10.1139/X08-136.
- Busse MD, Beattie SE, Powers RF, Sanchez FG, Tiarks AE. 2006. Microbial community responses in forest mineral soil to compaction, organic matter removal, and vegetation control. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **36** : 577–588. DOI: 10.1139/x05-294.
- Carlson CA, Fox TR, Colbert SR, Kelting DL, Allen HL, Albaugh TJ. 2006. Growth and survival of Pinus taeda in response to surface and subsurface tillage in the southeastern United States. *Forest Ecology and Management* 234 : 209–217. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2006.07.002.
- Dellasala DA, Karr JR, Schoennagel T, Perry D, Noss RF, Lindenmayer D, Beschta R, Hutto RL, Swanson ME, Evans J. 2006. Post-Fire Logging Debate Ignores Many Issues. *Science* **314** : 9–12.
- Donato DC, Fontaine JB, Campbell JL, Robinson WD, Kauffman JB, Law BE. 2006. Post-Wildfire Logging Hinders Regeneration and Increases Fire Risk. *Science* **311** : 352.
- Donato DC, Fontaine JB, Kauffman JB, Robinson WD, Law BE. 2013. Fuel mass and forest structure following stand-replacement fire and post-fire logging in a mixed-evergreen forest. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **22** : 652–666. DOI: 10.1071/WF12109.
- Edmonds RL, Chappell HN. 1994. Relationships between soil organic matter and forest productivity in western Oregon and Washington. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **24** : 1101–1106. DOI: 10.1139/x94-146.
- Emelko MB, Silins U, Bladon KD, Stone M. 2011. Implications of land disturbance on drinking water treatability in a changing climate: Demonstrating the need for "source water supply and protection" strategies. *Water Research* 45 : 461–472. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2010.08.051.
- Flannigan MD, Krawchuk MA, de Groot WJ, Wotton MB, Gowman LM. 2009. Implications of changing climate for global wildland fire. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* 18: 483–507. DOI: 10.1071/WF08187.
- Foltz RB, Wagenbrenner NS. 2010. An evaluation of three wood shred blends for post-fire erosion control using indoor simulated rain events on small plots. *Catena* **80** : 86–94. DOI: 10.1016/j.catena.2009.09.003.

- Grier CC. 1975. Wildfire Effects on Nutrient Distribution and Leaching in a Coniferous Ecosystem. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **5** : 599–607.
- Hohner AK, Rhoades CC, Wilkerson P, Rosario-Ortiz FL. 2019. Wildfires alter forest watersheds and threaten drinking water quality. *Accounts of Chemical Research* 52 : 1234–1244. DOI: 10.1021/acs.accounts.8b00670.
- Hohner AK, Terry LG, Townsend EB, Summers RS, Rosario-Ortiz FL. 2017. Water treatment process evaluation of wildfire-affected sediment leachates. *Environmental Science: Water Research and Technology* **3** : 352–365. DOI: 10.1039/c6ew00247a.
- Karr JR, Rhodes JJ, Minshall GW, Hauer FR, Beschta RL, Frissell CA, Perry DA. 2004. The effects of postfire salvage logging on aquatic ecosystems in the American West. *Bioscience* 54 : 1029–1033. DOI: 10.1641/0006-3568(2004)054[1029:TEOPSL]2.0.CO;2.
- Keeley JE, Bond WJ, Bradstock RA, Pausas JG, Rundel PW. 2011. Fire in Mediterranean Ecosystems: Ecology, Evolution and Management . Cambridge University Press:Cambridge
- Keeley JE, Brennan TJ. 2012. Fire-driven alien invasion in a fire-adapted ecosystem. *Oecologia* **169** : 1043–1052. DOI: 10.1007/s00442-012-2253-8.
- LeBauer DS, Treseder KK. 2008. Nitrogen limitation of net primary productivity in terrestrial ecosystems is globally distributed. *Ecology* **89** : 371–379.
- Leverkus AB et al. 2018. Salvage logging effects on regulating and supporting ecosystem services a systematic map. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **48** : 983–1000. DOI: 10.1139/cjfr-2018-0114.
- Leverkus AB, Puerta-Piñero C, Guzmán-Álvarez JR, Navarro J, Castro J. 2012. Post-fire salvage logging increases restoration costs in a Mediterranean mountain ecosystem. *New Forests* 43: 601–613. DOI: 10.1007/s11056-012-9327-7.
- Lindenmayer DB, Noss RF. 2006. Salvage Logging, Ecosystem Processes, and Biodiversity Conservation. *Conservation Biology* **20** : 949–958. DOI: 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2006.00497.x.
- Maia P, Keizer J, Vasques A, Abrantes N, Roxo L, Fernandes P, Ferreira A, Moreira F. 2014.
 Post-fire plant diversity and abundance in pine and eucalypt stands in Portugal: Effects of biogeography, topography, forest type and post-fire management. *Forest Ecology and Management* 334 : 154–162. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2014.08.030.
- Malvar MC, Silva FC, Prats SA, Vieira DCS, Coelho COA, Keizer JJ. 2017. Short-term effects of post-fire salvage logging on runoff and soil erosion. *Forest Ecology and Management* 400 : 555–567. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2017.06.031.
- Mann ML, Berck P, Moritz MA, Batllori E, Baldwin JG, Gately CK, Cameron DR. 2014. Modeling residential development in California from 2000 to 2050: Integrating wildfire risk, wildland and agricultural encroachment. *Land Use Policy* 41 : 438–452. DOI: 10.1016/j.landusepol.2014.06.020.
- Marañón-Jiménez S, Castro J. 2013. Effect of decomposing post-fire coarse woody debris on soil fertility and nutrient availability in a Mediterranean ecosystem. *Biogeochemistry* **112** : 519–535. DOI: 10.1007/s10533-012-9744-x.
- Marañón-Jiménez S, Castro J, Fernández-Ondoño E, Zamora R. 2013. Charred wood remaining after a wildfire as a reservoir of macro- and micronutrients in a Mediterranean pine forest. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **22** : 681–695. DOI: 10.1071/WF12030.

- May CL, Gresswell RE. 2003. Processes and rates of sediment and wood accumulation in headwater streams of the Oregon Coast Range, USA. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms* **28** : 409–424. DOI: 10.1002/esp.450.
- McCormick F, Riemen B, Kershner J. 2010. Biological responses to stressors in aquatic ecosystems in western North America: Cumulative watershed effects of fuel treatments, wildfire, and post-fire remediation. *Notes* : 206–233.
- McIver JD, Starr L. 2000. Environmental effects of postfire logging: Literature review and annotated bibliography. *General Technical Report PNW-GTR-486*
- McIver JD, Starr L. 2001. A literature review on the environmental effects of postfire logging. *Western Journal of Applied Forestry* **16** : 159–168.
- McLaughlin JW, Phillips SA. 2006. Soil carbon, nitrogen, and base cation cycling 17 years after whole-tree harvesting in a low-elevation red spruce (Picea rubens)-balsam fir (Abies balsamea) forested watershed in central Maine, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management* 222 : 234–253. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2005.10.033.
- Minshall GW. 2003. Responses of stream benthic macroinvertebrates to fire. *Forest Ecology and Management* **178** : 155–161. DOI: 10.1016/S0378-1127(03)00059-8.
- Moritz MA, Parisien M-A, Batllori E, Krawchuk MA, Van Dorn J, Ganz DJ, Hayhoe K. 2012. Climate change and disruptions to global fire activity. *Ecosphere* **3** : art49. DOI: 10.1890/ES11-00345.1.
- Morris LA, Lowery RF. 1988. Influence of site preparation on soil conditions affecting stand establishment and tree growth. *Southern Journal of Applied Forestry* **12** : 170–178.
- Müller J, Noss RF, Thorn S, Bässler C, Leverkus AB, Lindenmayer D. 2018. Increasing disturbance demands new policies to conserve intact forest. *Conservation Letters* : e12449. DOI: 10.1111/conl.12449.
- Munson SM, Long AL, Decker C, Johnson KA, Walsh K, Miller ME. 2015. Repeated landscapescale treatments following fire suppress a non-native annual grass and promote recovery of native perennial vegetation. *Biological Invasions* 17: 1915–1926. DOI: 10.1007/s10530-015-0847-x.
- Neary DG, Ryan KC, DeBano LF. 2005. Wildland Fire in Ecosystems: Effects of fire on soil and water. *General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-42* **4**
- Niemeyer RJ, Bladon KD, Woodsmith RD. 2020. Long-term hydrologic recovery after wildfire and post-fire forest management in the interior Pacific Northwest. *Hydrological Processes* : 1182–1197. DOI: 10.1002/hyp.13665.
- Ouzts J, Kolb T, Huffman D, Sánchez Meador A, Sánchez A. 2015. Post-fire ponderosa pine regeneration with and without planting in Arizona and New Mexico. *Forest Ecology and Management* **354** : 281–290. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2015.06.001.
- Pereg L, Mataix-Solera J, McMillan M, García-Orenes F. 2018. The impact of post-fire salvage logging on microbial nitrogen cyclers in Mediterranean forest soil. *Science of the Total Environment* 619–620 : 1079–1087. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.11.147.
- Peterson DW, Dodson EK, Harrod RJ. 2015. Post-fire logging reduces surface woody fuels up to four decades following wildfire. *Forest Ecology and Management* **338** : 84–91. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2014.11.016.
- Powers RF, Ferrell GT. 1996. Moisture, nutrient, and insect constraints on plantation growth: The "Garden of Eden" study. *New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science* **26** : 126–144.
- Powers RF, Reynolds PE. 1999. Ten-year responses of ponderosa pine plantations to repeated

vegetation and nutrient control along an environmental gradient. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **29** : 1027–1038. DOI: 10.1139/x99-104.

- Prats SA, Malvar MC, Coelho CO., Wagenbrenner JW. 2019. Hydrologic and erosion responses to compaction and added surface cover in post-fire logged areas: Isolating splash, interrill and rill erosion. *Journal of Hydrology* **575** : 408–419. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2019.05.038.
- Reilly MJ, Dunn CJ, Meigs GW, Spies TA, Kennedy RE, Bailey JD, Briggs K. 2017.
 Contemporary patterns of fire extent and severity in forests of the Pacific Northwest, USA (1985-2010). *Ecosphere* 8 : e01695. DOI: 10.1002/ecs2.1695.
- Robichaud PR, Beyers JL, Neary DG. 2000. Evaluating the Effectiveness of Postfire Rehabilitation Treatments . USDA Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station
- Robichaud PR, Wagenbrenner JW, Pierson FB, Spaeth KE, Ashmun LE, Moffet CA. 2016.
 Infiltration and interrill erosion rates after a wildfire in western Montana, USA. *Catena* 142: 77–88. DOI: 10.1016/j.catena.2016.01.027.
- Schmeer SR, Kampf SK, MacDonald LH, Hewitt J, Wilson C. 2018. Empirical models of annual post-fire erosion on mulched and unmulched hillslopes. *Catena* **163** : 276–287. DOI: 10.1016/j.catena.2017.12.029.
- Shakesby RA, Doerr SH. 2006. Wildfire as a hydrological and geomorphological agent. *Earth-Science Reviews* **74** : 269–307. DOI: 10.1016/j.earscirev.2005.10.006.
- Smith HG, Sheridan GJ, Lane PNJ, Nyman P, Haydon S. 2011. Wildfire effects on water quality in forest catchments: A review with implications for water supply. *Journal of Hydrology* **396** : 170–192. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2010.10.043.
- Thompson JR, Spies TA, Ganio LM. 2007. Reburn severity in managed and unmanaged vegetation in a large wildfire. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **104** : 10743–10748. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0700229104.
- Urbanski S. 2014. Wildland fire emissions, carbon, and climate: Emission factors. *Forest Ecology and Management* **317** : 51–60. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2013.05.045.
- Vukomanovic J, Steelman T. 2019. A Systematic Review of Relationships Between Mountain Wildfire and Ecosystem Services. *Landscape Ecology* **34** : 1179–1194. DOI: 10.1007/s10980-019-00832-9.
- Wagenbrenner JW, MacDonald LH, Coats RN, Robichaud PR, Brown RE. 2015. Effects of postfire salvage logging and a skid trail treatment on ground cover, soils, and sediment production in the interior western United States. *Forest Ecology and Management* 335 : 176–193. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2014.09.016.
- Wagenbrenner JW, Robichaud PR, Brown RE. 2016. Rill erosion in burned and salvage logged western montane forests: Effects of logging equipment type, traffic level, and slash treatment. *Journal of Hydrology* **541** : 889–901. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2016.07.049.
- Westerling AL. 2016. Increasing western US forest wildfire activity: sensitivity to changes in the timing of spring. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **371** DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2015.0178.
- Westerling AL, Bryant BP. 2008. Climate change and wildfire in California. *Climatic Change* **87** : 231–249. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-007-9363-z.
- Will RE, Jacobson MA. 2002. II. Early Loblolly Pine Stand Response to Tillage on the Piedmont and Upper Coastal Plain of Georgia: Tree Allometry, Foliar Nitrogen Concentration, Soil Bulk Density, Soil Moisture, and Soil Nitrogen Status. Southern Journal of Applied

Forestry 26 : 190–196.

Wondzell SM, King JG. 2003. Postfire erosional processes in the Pacific Northwest and Rocky Mountain regions. *Forest Ecology and Management* **178** : 75–87. DOI: 10.1016/S0378-1127(03)00054-9.

2 Hillslope sediment production after wildfire and post-fire forest management in northern California

2.1 Introduction

The timing, extent, and severity of wildfire activity in many forested regions of the world, including western North America, has increased dramatically in recent years (Flannigan *et al.*, 2009; Moritz *et al.*, 2012; Reilly *et al.*, 2017; Westerling, 2016). While wildfire activity has intensified rapidly in the past three decades, historical evidence suggests the risks associated with high severity wildfire could continue to rise (Murphy *et al.*, 2018). As such, concerns have grown regarding the immediate and longer-term effects on forest resilience and the water supply originating in forests (Hallema *et al.*, 2018a; Stevens-Rumann *et al.*, 2018; Wagenbrenner *et al.*, In review). Increasingly severe wildfires have produced substantial and long-lasting effects on annual streamflow and peak flows (Hallema *et al.*, 2018b; Niemeyer *et al.*, 2020; Saxe *et al.*, 2018), debris flows (Langhans *et al.*, 2017; Nyman *et al.*, 2015), physical and chemical water quality (Rhoades *et al.*, 2018; Rust *et al.*, 2018), aquatic ecosystem health (Bixby *et al.*, 2015; Emelko *et al.*, 2016), and downstream drinking water supply (Emelko *et al.*, 2011; Hohner *et al.*, 2017).

Such impacts on water supply are attributable to the complex and interactive effects of wildfires on soil water-repellency, soil organic matter, canopy and litter interception, root reinforcement, and soil hydraulic properties (Ebel and Moody, 2017; Robichaud *et al.*, 2016). In turn, these impacts often result in faster runoff response, increased surface runoff generation, erosion, and sediment delivery to streams (Helvey, 1980; Malmon *et al.*, 2007; Moody and Martin, 2001b; Neary *et al.*, 2005). Amplified runoff and sediment delivery can lead to changes

in stream geomorphology (Shakesby and Doerr, 2006), community structure of aquatic ecosystems (Arkle *et al.*, 2010; McCormick *et al.*, 2010), and water supplies for downstream communities (Bladon *et al.*, 2014; Emelko *et al.*, 2011; Smith *et al.*, 2011b).

Due to the broad range of post-fire threats, land managers often undertake active post-fire land management (e.g., emergency stabilization, rehabilitation, and restoration) in an attempt to promote regeneration and maintain forest and aquatic ecosystem functions (Leverkus et al., 2018; Robichaud et al., 2000). Salvage logging is one of the most common post-fire forest management practices (Karr et al., 2004; Lindenmayer et al., 2004). It is often justified as an approach to recover economic value from the burned timber resources, improve forest safety, reduce woody fuel loads and re-burn severity, lessen the potential for pest outbreaks, and facilitate reforestation efforts (Donato et al., 2013; Malvar et al., 2017; Müller et al., 2018). Land managers may also apply additional treatments to mitigate effects and promote vegetation recovery. For example, plowing furrows along the contours of hillslopes (subsoiling) may be used with the objectives to decrease soil bulk density, break up hardpans, improve conditions for root development of newly established vegetation, and reduce runoff and erosion potential (Carlson et al., 2006; Morris and Lowery, 1988; Robichaud et al., 2000; Will and Jacobson, 2002). Similarly, contour-felled logs, straw wattle, and hand-dug contour trenches have been used as erosion barriers to mitigate post-wildfire runoff and erosion (Robichaud et al., 2008a, 2008b). Land managers have also seeded grasses or planted trees to facilitate vegetation recovery on burned hillslopes (Ouzts et al., 2015; Wagenbrenner et al., 2006). Occasionally, herbicides are applied to reserve and or replanted hillslopes to suppress competition from non-native vegetation or emergent understory vegetation (Munson et al., 2015; Powers and Ferrell, 1996; Powers and Reynolds, 1999).

Limited scientific research into post-fire land management strategies has led to continued debate of their potential benefits and trade-offs (Dellasala *et al.*, 2006; Donato *et al.*, 2006; Leverkus *et al.*, 2012; McIver and Starr, 2000). For example, the removal of standing and downed large wood may eliminate important structural components that can help facilitate the recovery of terrestrial and aquatic systems (Lindenmayer and Noss, 2006; Maia *et al.*, 2014; May and Gresswell, 2003). Moreover, salvage logging in recently burned areas has the potential to create additional site disturbance and soil compaction (McIver and Starr, 2001; Wagenbrenner *et al.*, 2016). These further effects on the soil can enhance post-fire runoff, erosion, and sediment delivery to streams with negative consequences for soil fertility, vegetation recovery, and aquatic ecosystem health (Karr *et al.*, 2004; Wagenbrenner *et al.*, 2015). Similarly, the additional ground disturbance associated with subsoiling or the suppression of ground cover due to herbicide application could also increase soil exposure to runoff events and increase erosion rates (Benavides-Solorio and MacDonald, 2001; Robichaud *et al.*, 2010; Wagenbrenner *et al.*, 2015).

Given the recent trends towards larger, more severe wildfires in many regions, including western North America, it is crucial to improve our understanding of the efficacy of post-fire forest management approaches at mitigating runoff and erosion. While many post-fire management practices appear to have the potential to ameliorate the impact of fire on erosion and runoff (McIver and Starr, 2000), research on the short- and long-term effects is limited, especially in mixed-conifer forests of the northern California Coast Range. Studies on post-fire salvage logging have increased in recent years (Donato *et al.*, 2006; Lewis *et al.*, 2018; Malvar *et al.*, 2017; Silins *et al.*, 2009; Slesak *et al.*, 2015), but we are only aware of one study assessing the effectiveness of either subsoiling or herbicide application after salvage logging (James and Krumland, 2018). Further research on these practices will improve understanding of the

hydrogeomorphic effects of different post-fire land management strategies to help facilitate informed land management decisions. Thus, our primary objectives were to quantify differences in hillslope sediment yields among (a) burned, (b) burned and salvage logged (salvage logged), (c) burned, salvage logged, and subsoiled (subsoiled) (d) burned, salvage logged, and preemergent herbicide application (early herbicide), and (e) burned, salvage logged, and foliar herbicide application (late herbicide) plots through the first four years after the 2015 Valley Fire in Northern California. Our secondary objective was to quantify the effect of the post-fire management site types on some of the primary runoff and erosion controlling variables, including precipitation characteristics, ground cover, canopy cover, soil bulk density, soil hydraulic properties, and soil water-repellency in order to understand how post-fire forest management influenced erosion.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Site Description

The Valley Fire burned approximately 30,700 ha of forested land and wildland-urban interface in southern Lake County, California from September 12 to October 15, 2015 (Figure 2.1). During the fire, approximately 98 % (1,414 ha) of the Boggs Mountain Demonstration State Forest (BMDSF) was burned. BMDSF is a public forest, managed by the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE). It is located about 10 kilometers southwest of Clear Lake, CA, in the northern Coast Range (38°50'00.07" N, 122°42'05.33" W). During the Valley Fire, about 48 % of the BMDSF area burned at high severity, 34 % at moderate severity, 15 % at low severity, and 2 % remained unburned/unchanged.

The climate of the region is Mediterranean with warm dry summers and cool, wet winters (Köppen Csb). Rainfall dominates the precipitation, though there are occasional snow events and transient snowpack during winters. Mean annual precipitation is 1,408 mm with the majority falling between October and April (PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University, http://prism.oregonstate.edu).

The primary tree species across the region before the fire were ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa*), sugar pine (*Pinus lambertiana*), Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*), and California black oak (*Quercus kelloggii*). Pacific madrone (*Arbutus menziesii*) and canyon live oak (*Quercus chrysolepis*) were also present as minor components of the forest canopy.

Mean slopes of Boggs Mountain are about 27 %, which are relatively shallow compared to surrounding mountains. The elevation ranges from 700 to 1,144 m. The geology consists of a cap of igneous andesite and dacite at high elevations over sedimentary sandstone and mudstone at lower elevations. After the fire, soils were classified as deep, well-drained, xeric andisols with a sandy loam texture (Marshall and Obeidy, 2016).

2.2.2 Post-fire management

We targeted four hillslopes ("blocks") across BMDSF to investigate the effects of different post-fire land management treatments on hillslope sediment yields. These hillslopes were located on the upper slopes of BMDSF between elevations of 1,050–1,113 m, with mean slopes of 22–31 %, and NNW and ESE aspects. We constructed 25 sediment fences modified from the methods of Robichaud and Brown (2002) to trap eroded sediment from hillslope plots. Each "plot" was approximately 5 m wide by 15 m long with a sediment fence constructed at the

downslope end to catch sediment transported during storm events, though the exact contributing area to each fence varied due to microtopographic features.

Most of BMDSF was salvage logged approximately one year after the fire, excluding unburned forest and riparian corridors. Burned trees were primarily hand-felled and skidded to landings with wheeled or tracked skidders and cable yarders. About one to two months after salvage logging, some hillslopes were subsoiled using winged blades mounted to the rear of a tracked Caterpillar D7H crawler tractor. The subsoiling blades ripped through the soil surface and plowed furrows into the soil along hillslope contour, and the wings extended lifted the soil adjacent to the blades, with the intent of increasing the porosity and laterally extending the effect of the subsoiling.

Approximately two years after salvage harvest operations (March 30, 2018) hexazinone herbicide (trade name: Velpar) was applied to four salvage logged and four subsoiled erosion plots to represent an "early" or "pre-emergent" herbicide treatment. Soon after the hexazinone application (June 22, 2018), four salvage logged plots received application of a glyphosate-based herbicide (trade name: Roundup) to represent a "late" or "foliar" herbicide treatment. Approximately two years after salvage harvest operations (April 7, 2018), we planted four ponderosa pine seedlings (two-year-old plugs) in each of our study plots.

Following major storm events or rainy periods, we quantified the mass of sediment that eroded into each sediment fence. Over the four years of the study, we were able to capture the eroded sediment from 15 accumulation periods. Sediment stored in the fences was collected and weighed in the field. We then collected sub-samples of the sediment (~0.5 kg), which were returned to the laboratory for analysis. We dried the subsamples at 105 °C for 24 hours to determine the water content and then multiplied the field masses by the dry fraction to calculate

dry sediment masses. Dry sediment masses were converted to sediment yields by dividing the sediment mass by the total bounded area upslope of each fence. The post-fire land subsoiling treatment along the contour of the hillslope created furrows within these plots, which effectively reduced the contributing hillslope area to each of those sediment fences. As such, we also calculated effective area sediment yields by dividing the mass of dry sediment by a field-estimated contributing area to each sediment fence.

2.2.3 Plot Characterization

Rainfall near each block was measured from October 2016 to July 2019 using tipping bucket rain gauges (Onset Computer Corporation, Bourne, MA, USA and Rainwise, Inc., Trenton, ME, USA) accurate to 0.25 mm. We used the rainfall data to calculate maximum 30minute intensity (*i30*), storm duration (min), and total precipitation (mm) for each storm using RainMaxLaz software (R. Brown, US Forest Service, unpublished software). An individual storm event was identified if there was at least a six hour gap between rain gauge tips. When gauges occasionally malfunctioned, we used multiple linear regression relationships ($R^2 > 0.90$) between rain gauges to fill gaps in the data.

We quantified tree canopy cover before and after salvage logging using hemispherical photography in each plot (Chianucci and Cutini, 2012; Glatthorn *et al.*, 2014). A Nikon D7100 camera (Nikon Corporation, Tokyo, Japan) with a circular fisheye lens was installed facing up on a level tripod 1 m above the ground (Origo *et al.*, 2017). We took the hemispherical photographs from the center of each sediment fence contributing area during optimal lighting conditions. Digital photographs were processed using the Gap Light Analyzer (GLA) version 2.0 (Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, B.C., Canada; Institute of Ecosystem Studies, Millbrook, New York,

USA) to calculate percent tree canopy closure directly above the sediment fence contributing area.

We measured surface cover of the contributing area to the sediment fences starting at the beginning of the project and repeated measurements annually during the wet season. We used the point intercept method to quantify surface cover on three 1 m quadrats in each plot (Bonham, 2013). Cover categories included bare mineral soil, litter, wood (>10 mm diameter), gravel (>5 mm), rock (>25 mm), and live vegetation.

Surface soil samples were collected with a bulk density core sampler in two locations within the contributing area of each sediment fence and from two soil depths (0–5 and 5–10 cm). The soil core samples were dried in the lab at 105 °C for 24 hours and weighed to calculate bulk density. We measured soil water repellency in the contributing area of each sediment fence using the water drop penetration time (WDPT) test under dry soil conditions at the mineral soil surface, 1 cm depth, and 3 cm depth in September 2016 and 2017 (DeBano, 1981). Field saturated hydraulic conductivity (K_{fs}) was measured using a SATURO infiltrometer (METER Group, Inc., Pullman, WA, USA) with a 5 cm insertion depth. We used bentonite clay to create a seal between the insertion ring and the soil surface. During the 2018 sampling period many infiltrometer trials resulted in non-detects of K_{fs} when the soil hydraulic conductivity exceeded the maximum quantifiable rate of the instrument. We filled these gaps in the dataset with the maximum rate of K_{fs} that the infiltrometer could effectively measure (0.0319 cm s⁻¹).

2.2.4 Statistical Analyses

We used linear mixed effects models to compare sediment yields among site types within the same water year at both the plot and effective contributing area scales. Sediment yields were log transformed to meet assumptions of our statistical model. We used random effects to adjust our comparisons by plot and block and allowed for unequal variances among site types. Pairwise comparisons between site types within each year were calculated using Tukey-Kramer adjustment (Driscoll, 1996). Linear mixed effects models with standardized coefficients were used to compare the influence of principal drivers on erosion. We used random effects to adjust our comparisons by plot and block, allowed for unequal variances between groups, and used an exponential correlation structure to account for repeated measures through time.

We also used linear mixed effects models to compare ground cover among site types with block and plot as random effects and unequal variances among site types. Pair-wise comparisons between site types within each year were calculated using Tukey-Kramer adjustment (Driscoll, 1996). To analyze differences between site types in means for bulk density, precipitation intensity, hydraulic conductivity, and canopy closure we used linear regression with Tukey-Kramer adjustment for pairwise comparisons (Driscoll, 1996). All statistical analyses were conducted using R programming environment (R Core Team, 2018), and linear mixed effects models were created using the *nlme* package (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2018).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Hillslope Sediment Yields

During the first wet season after the 2015 Valley Fire (WY 2016) in northern California, we collected preliminary sediment samples, which were eroded from the burned-only plots. These samples were collected prior to the post-fire forest management activities to provide important context for the subsequent years in our study. The mean annual sediment yield $\pm SD$ from the burned-only plots during the first wet season was 13.3 ± 4.6 Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Figure 2.2).

Interestingly, mean annual plot sediment yields in the second year after the fire (WY 2017) were higher than the previous year (Figure 2.2). The geometric mean annual plot sediment yield and 95 % confidence interval [CI] from the burned-only plots was 28.8 [8.3, 99.2] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Comparatively, the geometric mean annual plot sediment yield from the salvage logged plots was 6.8 [3.0, 15.4] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and from subsoiled plots was 3.0 [1.1, 8.0] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Statistically, there was strong evidence that the geometric mean annual plot sediment yields from the burned plots were greater than the salvage logged plots (t = 3.15, p = 0.008) and the subsoiled plots (t = 4.63, p < 0.001). However, there was little or no statistical evidence for a difference in geometric mean annual plot sediment yields between the salvage logged and subsoiled plots (t = 2.11, p = 0.10).

During the third year after the fire (WY 2018), geometric mean annual plot sediment yields were substantially lower in all plots (Figure 2.2). Specifically, the geometric mean annual plot sediment yield from the burned plots was 0.9 [0.3, 3.2] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, which was greater than from the salvage logged (0.4 [0.2, 1.0] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) and subsoiled plots (0.4 [0.1, 1.0] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). Statistically, there was no evidence for a difference in geometric mean annual plot sediment

yields between the burned and salvage logged plots (t = 1.71, p = 0.21), burned and subsoiled plots (t = 1.96, p = 0.14), or the salvage logged and subsoiled plots (t = 0.45, p = 0.89).

During the fourth year after fire (WY 2019), geometric mean annual plot sediment yields were similar to WY 2018 (Figure 2.3). Burned plots had a geometric mean annual plot sediment yield of 0.9 [0.2, 3.2] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, which was similar to the salvage logged plots (0.7 [0.2, 3.2] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), but greater than the subsoiled plots (0.4 [0.1, 0.5] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). WY 2019 was also the first year we were able to quantify herbicide effects on the 12 plots treated in this manner. The geometric mean annual plot sediment yield was greatest in the subsoiled and early herbicide plots (1.3 [0.3, 5.5] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), followed by the salvage logged and early herbicide plots (1.1 [0.2, 4.6] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), and the salvage logged and late herbicide plots (0.8 [0.2, 3.3] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). There was no statistical evidence for differences in geometric mean annual plot sediment yields in WY2019 between any of the site types (F = 0.94, p = 0.48).

Subsoiling created a ridge-furrow microtopography, with the ridges trapping sediment from the uphill sections of the plot, preventing it from reaching the sediment fence. To account for the change in contributing area to the sediment fences, we adjusted the plot sediment yields by the estimated contributing area to each fence. This created a new metric of erosion we termed effective area yields. In WY 2017, the geometric mean of the annual effective area sediment yield from the burned plots was 28.9 [7.9, 105.8] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Comparatively, the geometric mean of the annual effective area sediment yield from the salvage logged plots was 6.8 [3.0, 15.8] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and from subsoiled plots was 21.1 [7.6, 59.0] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. We found strong evidence that the geometric mean of the annual effective area sediment yields from the burned plots were greater than salvage logged plots (t = 3.15, p = 0.009). Similarly, there was strong evidence that the geometric mean of the annual effective area sediment yields in the subsoiled plots were greater than the salvage logged plots (t = -2.59, p = 0.035). However, there was no statistical evidence for a difference in geometric mean of the annual effective area sediment yields between the burned and subsoiled plots (t = 0.59, p = 0.83).

During the third year after the fire (WY 2018), the geometric means of the annual effective area sediment yields were substantially lower in all plots. Specifically, the geometric mean of the annual effective area sediment yield from the burned plots was 0.9 [0.3, 3.5] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, which was greater than salvage logged plots (0.4 [0.2, 1.0] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), but less than the subsoiled plots (2.0 [0.4, 5.5] Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). Statistically, there was strong evidence that the geometric mean of the annual effective area sediment yields was greater from the subsoiled plots than the salvage logged plots (t = -3.49, p = 0.003). Comparatively, there was no evidence that the geometric mean of the effective area sediment yields was different between the burned and salvage logged plots (t = 1.70, p = 0.22) or between the burned and subsoiled plots (t = -1.39, p = 0.36).

2.3.2 Precipitation

Annual precipitation varied across the four water years of the study. While annual precipitation during the first year (WY 2016) and third year (WY 2018) after the fire was close to the long-term average for the region, the annual precipitation in the second year (WY 2017) and fourth year (WY 2019) was greater than normal for the region. Mean annual precipitation \pm *SD* was 1,511 \pm 59 mm in WY 2016, 3,105 \pm 231 mm in WY 2017, 1,010 \pm 65 mm in WY 2018, and 2,417 \pm 214 mm in WY 2019. Moreover, precipitation event intensities during WY 2016 and 2018 were lower than in WY 2017 and WY 2019. Maximum thirty-minute precipitation intensity

(*i30*) was 28.5 mm hr⁻¹ in WY 2016, 32.0 mm hr⁻¹ in WY 2017, 27.4 mm hr⁻¹ in WY 2018, and 35.1 mm hr⁻¹ in WY 2019. Additionally, the geometric mean *i30* and 95 % confidence interval [*CI*] was greatest in WY 2019 (5.2 [4.0, 6.8] mm hr⁻¹), followed by WY 2016 (4.5 [3.3, 6.0] mm hr⁻¹), WY 2017 (4.1 [3.1, 5.5] mm hr⁻¹), and WY 2018 (3.8 [2.7, 5.2] mm hr⁻¹). Statistically, there was no evidence for differences in the geometric mean *i30* among all years sampled (F = 0.85, p = 0.47).

2.3.3 Ground Cover and Canopy Closure

In the first year after the fire (WY 2016)—before application of post-fire land management treatments—we measured the exposed bare soil in each of the burned plots. The wildfire produced a mean bare soil fraction $\pm SD$ of 60.4 \pm 4.6 %.

In the second year after the fire (WY 2017) the mean bare soil fraction and 95 % confidence interval [CI] in the burned plots was 49.9 [32.9, 67.0] %, which was greater than in both the salvage logged (33.7 [15.4, 52.0] %) and subsoiled plots (26.9 [11.7, 42.1] %) (Figure 2.4). There was strong evidence mean bare soil fraction was greater in the burned plots than the salvage logged plots (t = 2.95, p = 0.005) or subsoiled plots (t = 5.15, p < 0.0001). There was no statistical evidence for a difference in mean bare soil fraction between salvage logged and subsoiled plots (t = 1.37, p = 0.18).

In the third year after the fire (WY 2018), mean bare soil fraction was 54.3 [37.2, 71.3] % in burned plots, 42.9 [24.6, 61.3] % in salvage logged plots, and 39.9 [24.7, 55.1] % in the subsoiled plots (Figure 2.4). There was strong evidence mean bare soil fraction was greater in burned plots than salvage logged plots (t = 2.03, p = 0.046) and subsoiled plots (t = 3.21, p =

0.003). There was no statistical evidence for a difference in mean bare soil fraction between salvage logged and subsoiled plots (t = 0.61, p = 0.544).

In the fourth year after the fire (WY 2019), mean bare soil fraction was 33.3 [21.5, 45.1] % in burned plots, 43.5 [36.0, 51.0] % in salvage logged plots, and 40.4 [31.2, 49.6] % in subsoiled plots (Figure 2.5). There was no statistical evidence for pairwise differences in mean bare soil fraction between any of the post-fire management site types: burned vs. salvage logged (t = -1.53, p = 0.30); burned vs. subsoiled (t = -1.00, p = 0.59); salvage logged vs. subsoiled (t = 0.54, p = 0.85). WY 2019 also included the effects of herbicide treatments on ground cover in some of the salvage logged and subsoiled plots. Salvage logged plots that received an early application of herbicide (pre-emergent) had a mean bare soil fraction 22.6 % greater than the plots that received no herbicide application. Similarly, subsoiled plots that received the pre-emergent herbicide had a mean bare soil fraction 17.3 % greater than subsoiled plots that did not receive herbicide.

Statistically, there was strong evidence that the bare soil fraction was greater on both the salvage logged sites (t = -3.52, p = 0.008) and the subsoiled sites (t = -2.70, p = 0.04) that received herbicide application relative to sites that did not receive herbicides. Comparatively, there was no statistical evidence for a difference in mean bare soil fraction between plots that received a late application herbicide (foliar) and those without herbicide application (t = -1.72, p = 0.23) or those that received the early herbicide application (pre-emergent) (t = 1.80, p = 0.20).

Measurements of canopy closure during WY 2018 also illustrated strong differences across the treatment types. Mean canopy closure and 95 % CI was greater in the burned plots (12.4 [8.1, 18.6] %) compared to both the salvage logged (1.3 [0.5, 2.9] %) and subsoiled (0.2 [0.01, 2.6] %) plots. There was strong statistical evidence the canopy closure was greater in the
burned plots compared to the salvage logged plots (t = 4.95, p < 0.001) and subsoiled plots (t = 3.15, p = 0.014). However, there was no evidence for differences in canopy closure between the salvage logged and subsoiled plots (t = 1.37, p = 0.38).

2.3.4 Soil Bulk Density, Hydraulic Conductivity, and Water Repellency

For WY 2018 mean average bulk density and 95 % CI at 0–5 cm soil depth was 0.65 [0.54, 0.76] g cm⁻³ in the burned plots, 0.83 [0.75, 0.90] g cm⁻³ in the salvage logged plots, and 0.73 [0.64, 0.82] g cm⁻³ in the subsoiled plots (Figure 2.6). Statistically, there was strong evidence for a pairwise difference in bulk density between the salvage logged plots and both the burned (t = -4.62, p = 0.0005) and subsoiled plots (t = 2.78, p = 0.031). There was no evidence for a difference in mean average bulk density between the burned and subsoiled plots (t = -2.08, p = 0.12).

Mean average bulk density in WY 2018 was higher at 5–10 cm soil depth in all three site types, but the relative differences among site types remained similar. The mean average bulk density at 5–10 cm soil depth was 0.83 [0.72, 0.93] g cm⁻³ in the burned-only plots, 0.86 [0.79, 0.94] g cm⁻³ in the salvage logged plots, and 0.79 [0.70, 0.88] g cm⁻³ in the subsoiled plots. There was no statistical evidence that the bulk density was different in the burned plots compared to either the salvage logged plots (t = -0.97, p = 0.61) or the subsoiled plots (t = 0.95, p = 0.62). However, there was suggestive evidence that the mean average bulk density was greater in the salvage logged plots compared to the subsoiled plots (t = 2.31, p = 0.079).

Mean average bulk density at 0–5 cm soil depth in WY 2019 was 0.75 [0.68, 0.82] g cm⁻³ in the burned plots, 0.80 [0.74, 0.86] g cm⁻³ in the salvage logged plots, and 0.87 [0.80, 0.94] g

cm⁻³ in the subsoiled plots. Statistically, there was strong evidence for a pairwise difference in mean average bulk density at 0–5 cm soil depth between the subsoiled plots and both the burned (t = -4.57, p = 0.0006) and salvage logged plots (t = -3.07, p = 0.017). There was no evidence for a difference in mean average bulk density between the burned and salvage logged plots (t = -2.03, p = 0.13).

Mean average bulk density at 5–10 cm soil depth in WY 2019 was 0.82 [0.75, 0.89] g cm⁻³ in the burned plots, 0.86 [0.80, 0.92] g cm⁻³ in the salvage logged plots, and 0.82 [0.75, 0.89] g cm⁻³ in the subsoiled plots. There was no statistical evidence for a difference in mean average bulk density at 5–10 cm soil depth among the three site types (burned vs. salvage logged: t = -1.61, p = 0.27; burned vs. subsoiled: t = 0.04, p > 0.99; salvage logged vs. subsoiled: t = 1.73, p = 0.22).

The mean field saturated hydraulic conductivity (K_{fs}) ± *SD* in the burned plots before the post-fire land management treatments was 0.0126 ± 0.0074 cm s⁻¹. In WY 2018, the geometric mean of K_{fs} and 95 % confidence interval [CI] was 0.024 [0.0082, 0.068] cm s⁻¹ in the burned treatment, 0.013 [0.0050, 0.032] cm s⁻¹ in the salvage logged treatment, and 0.021 [0.0076, 0.060] cm s⁻¹ in the subsoiled treatment. Statistically, there was no evidence for differences in K_{fs} between any site types (burned vs. salvage logged: t = 1.41, p = 0.36; burned vs. subsoiled: t = 0.23, p = 0.97; salvage logged vs. subsoiled: t = -1.19, p = 0.47). In WY 2019, geometric mean K_{fs} was substantially lower than 2018 in all site types. The geometric mean of K_{fs} was 0.0031 [0.0011, 0.0089] cm s⁻¹ in the burned treatment, 0.0026 [0.0012, 0.0057] cm s⁻¹ in the salvage logged treatment, and 0.0022 [0.00098, 0.0051] cm s⁻¹ in the subsoiled treatment. Statistically, there was no evidence for differences in K_{fs} between any site types (burned treatment, 0.0026 [0.0012, 0.0057] cm s⁻¹ in the salvage logged treatment, and 0.0022 [0.00098, 0.0051] cm s⁻¹ in the subsoiled treatment. Statistically, there was no evidence for differences in K_{fs} between any site types (burned vs. salvage logged) treatment.

= 0.40, p = 0.92; burned vs. subsoiled: t = 0.79, p = 0.72; salvage logged vs. subsoiled: t = 0.48, p = 0.88).

Overall, soil water repellency ranged from slight to strongly persistent (Doerr *et al.*, 2006) in the first year after the fire (WY 2016), but soils were mostly wettable by the second post-fire year (WY 2017). In the first year after the fire, the soil surface was determined to be wettable with mean WDPT \pm *SD* of 1 \pm 0 sec, but there was slight to strong water repellency at 1 cm (44.5 \pm 93.6 sec), 3 cm (102.3 \pm 136.4 sec), and at 5 cm (30.4 \pm 70.6 sec) depth in the soil. In the second year, soils in the burned-only plots were determined to be wettable at the soil surface (<1 sec) and 1 cm depth (1.7 \pm 2.7 sec)—water repellency remained only slightly persistent (12.4 \pm 44.1 sec) at 3 cm depth. Soil water repellency was similar in the plots treated with the post-fire land management prescription compared to the burned plots. For example, soils in the salvage logged plots were wettable at the soil surface (<1 sec) and 1 cm depth (1.3 \pm 52.4 sec) at 3 cm depth. Soils in the subsoiled plots were wettable at the soil surface (<1 sec) and 1 cm depth (1.3 \pm 52.4 sec) at 3 cm depth. Soils in the subsoiled plots were wettable at the soil surface (<1 sec), 1 cm (<1 sec), and at 3 cm depth (<1 sec).

2.3.5 Relative importance of erosion controlling factors

We found strong evidence that storm periods with higher precipitation depth recorded the highest rates of erosion—statistically precipitation depth was the most important driver of erosion across all three of the site types was depth with a standardized coefficient from our linear mixed effects model of 0.62 (F = 61.7, p < 0.0001). Not surprisingly, there was also very strong evidence that sites with greater canopy closure was had higher rates of erosion—statistically, it had a standardized coefficient of 0.45 (F = 19.1, p = 0.0003). There was also strong evidence

that sites with more bare soil (standardized coefficient = 0.39, F = 33.9, p < 0.001) and storm periods with higher maximum thirty-minute precipitation intensity (standardized coefficient = 0.32, F = 21.5, p < 0.001) also had higher erosion rates across the three site types. There was no evidence that soil bulk density was a factor influencing erosion rates across the three site types (standardized coefficient = 0.08, F = 1.8, p = 0.18).

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Sediment Yields

Contrary to our expectation, plot sediment yields following the 2015 Valley Fire in the northern Coast Range of California were lower from hillslopes that had been salvage logged relative to hillslopes that were burned but not actively managed after the fire. Specifically, the mean annual plot sediment yields from the burned plots were 4.2-times greater than salvage logged plots during the second year after the fire (WY 2017) and 2.3-times greater in the third year after the fire (WY 2018). However, by the fourth year after fire (WY 2019), we did not measure any differences in mean annual sediment yields between burned and salvage logged plots. Our observations were surprising given that the majority of studies have observed 1.6- to 100-times greater sediment yields from salvage logged areas compared to sites that were burned but not managed (Malvar *et al.*, 2017; Slesak *et al.*, 2015; Spanos *et al.*, 2005; Wagenbrenner *et al.*, 2015). Moreover, many other studies that have investigated hillslope rill development or instream turbidity or sediment concentration have also found evidence for greater erosion and sediment transport from salvage logged hillslopes compared to burned hillslopes (Klock, 1975; Lewis *et al.*, 2018; Smith *et al.*, 2011a; Wagenbrenner *et al.*, 2016). Few studies have reported

no change or decreased sediment yields from salvage logged hillslopes (Fernández and Vega, 2016; James and Krumland, 2018). Similar to our study, James and Krumland (2018) found ground cover in salvage logged swales had higher levels of wood and litter cover, a possible "mulch" that was created by logging activities. Fernandez and Vega (2016) reported mulching did more to limit soil erosion than salvage logging alone. Qualitatively, we also observed substantial wood and litter following salvage logging operations that may have functioned analogously to straw mulch, mitigating hillslope erosion (Foltz and Wagenbrenner, 2010; Prats *et al.*, 2012, 2016; Wagenbrenner *et al.*, 2006).

Comparatively, the mean annual sediment yields from the subsoiled plots were 9.6-times lower than burned plots in the second post-fire year and 2.3-times lower in the third post-fire year. However, there were no differences in sediment yields between the subsoiled and burned plots by the fourth post-fire year. At the plot scale, sediment yields were likely lower from the subsoiled plots compared to the burned or salvage logged plots due to the ridge-furrow microtopography created by subsoiling, which prevented sediment transport down the hillslope. While research on post-fire subsoiling is limited, our results were consistent with another Northern California study, which illustrated ~14.8-times greater sediment yields from burned plots and ~4.5-times greater sediment yields from salvage logged plots relative to subsoiled plots (James and Krumland 2018). James and Krumland (2018) attributed the lower sediment yields from the subsoiled plots to greater surface roughness in the headwater swales, which reduced sediment transport. This is supported by laboratory experiments that have illustrated reduced soil erosion at the hillslope scale due to high soil surface roughness, which limited runoff velocity and sediment detachment, creating areas for sediment detention (Helming et al., 1998; Römkens et al., 2002). While not directly analogous, post-fire studies from Portugal and Spain also found

rip-ploughed hillslopes produced ~2- to 5-times less sediment than reference hillslopes (Fernández *et al.*, 2019; Malvar *et al.*, 2011). However, results from other subsoiling experiments have not consistently led to reduced sediment yields. For example, in a study of unburned eucalypt plantations in Brazil soil loss was similar between hillslopes with and without contour subsoiling (Padilha *et al.*, 2018). In contrast to our results, soil tillage performed in agricultural settings, a practice analogous to subsoiling, has typically lead to greater soil loss than no-till agriculture (Montgomery, 2007).

Interestingly, when we adjusted plot sediment yields for the effective contributing area, the measurable erosion rates in the subsoiled plots increased substantially. These results suggest subsoiling had two contrasting effects on post-fire soil erosion. First, subsoiling increased smallscale erosion by creating ridges of disturbed and available (erodible) soil with microtopographic slopes steeper than the larger scale hillslope. However, subsoiling also created dramatic microptographic roughness perpendicular to the downslope transport direction that limited sediment transport distances and provided areas for sediment detention. This result was not surprising to us as soil erosion is often negatively related to scale of measurement, reflecting increased opportunity for sediment storage at large scales (Shakesby and Doerr, 2006; de Vente et al., 2007). However, we do not know whether we would have also observed lower effective area sediment yields from burned or salvage logged plots if they had similar contributing areas as the subsoiled plots. Thus, these results should be interpreted cautiously, as we are only aware of one other study that also quantified lower sediment yields from salvage logged and subsoiled hillslopes relative to burned hillslopes (James and Krumland 2018). Our results do suggest subsoiling could potentially be effective at disconnecting post-fire hillslope sediment from

streams, addressing a critical research gap about hillslope sediment connectivity to streams after forest harvesting (Croke *et al.*, 2005; Litschert and MacDonald, 2009).

2.4.2 Principal Drivers of Erosion

We found precipitation depth to be the most important driver of sediment yields through the course of this study. This was not surprising since fluvial processes are often the primary sediment transport mechanism during the wet season in post-fire environments (Cerdà and Robichaud, 2009; Doerr *et al.*, 2006; Johansen *et al.*, 2001; Wondzell and King, 2003). Precipitation depth had a greater influence on sediment yields than 30-minute precipitation intensity, despite previous research suggesting precipitation intensity may be more important in controlling surface runoff and erosion after fire (Ebel *et al.*, 2012; Moody and Ebel, 2014; Moody and Martin, 2001a; Wondzell and King, 2003). These differences may be due to the dominance of lower intensity frontal storms from the Pacific Ocean at our sites, instead of convective storms common in the interior west, which have been linked to high rates of erosion and runoff in burned forests (Kunze and Stednick, 2006; Robichaud *et al.*, 2008b).

We also found strong evidence that canopy cover in the burned only plots contributed to the greater sediment yields measured on these sites. Generally, rain splash detachment and overland flow have been attributed as dominant processes driving runoff and erosion on burned hillslopes with low topographic roughness (Rengers *et al.*, 2016). Similarly, we observed visual evidence of rain splash detachment and sheetflow on hillslopes from all site types, contributing to soil erosion. However, anecdotally the raindrops underneath our burned canopy appeared to be heavier due to temporary detention on the burned snags and accumulation of water before becoming throughfall. As such, the rain drops under the burned canopy likely fell with greater kinetic energy (Geißler *et al.*, 2012)., which impacted the soil with greater force than in the salvage logged plots. Interestingly, the differences in drop kinetic energy between site types was especially evident during low intensity rainfall. This theory was also supported by the presence of substantial erosion pedestals underneath the burned tree canopies (Figure 2.7) that were absent within salvage logged areas.

Across all our sites, bare soil was also positively correlated with higher sediment yields. This result was expected, given that high levels of bare soil have previously been related to rain splash detachment of soil particles (Rengers et al., 2016; Zavala et al., 2009) and higher sediment yields (Benavides-Solorio and MacDonald, 2001; Malvar et al., 2017; Schmeer et al., 2018; Stoof et al., 2015; Wagenbrenner et al., 2006). Interestingly, the significant influence of bare soil was only evident in WY 2019, after the addition of herbicide treatments to the plots. Herbicide application significantly decreased the amount of live vegetation cover in affected plots, indicating changes in ground cover may still influence erosion at our site in the future. Before herbicide application, it is possible that overall precipitation depth overwhelmed the signal of bare soil. Alternatively, it is possible that our sample size was not large enough to quantify the effect. Some studies have found threshold or other non-linear responses between bare soil and soil erosion in burned forests, with erosion significantly increasing at bare soil levels of approximately 60–70 % (Davenport et al., 2016; Johansen et al., 2001; Spigel and Robichaud, 2007). Highest mean bare soil cover in our plots was 53.9 %; if our site were to behave according to such an erosion threshold, it is possible the bare soil fraction was not large enough to influence the rates of hillslope erosion.

While we observed a statistical difference in soil bulk density at 0–5 cm depth between the burned plots and both the salvage logged and subsoiled plots, the actual differences were small. In the third year after the fire (WY2018), soil bulk density was only 1.3-times greater in the salvage logged plots and 1.1-times great in the subsoiled plots compared to the burned plots. While the differences were small, they were consistent with previous studies that have illustrated a $\sim 1.2-1.4$ -times increase in bulk density associated with tracked logging equipment, falling trees, or skidding logs along the ground surface typical during post-fire salvage logging (García-Orenes et al., 2017; Malvar et al., 2017; Parkhurst et al., 2018; Wagenbrenner et al., 2015). Laboratory experiments have demonstrated soil bulk density influences rill formation, with higher bulk densities leading to fewer and shorter rills to transport sediment (Hieke and Schmidt, 2013). Furthermore, bulk density is inversely related to the amount of energy to detach sediment particles from the soil surface during concentrated overland flow (Ghebreiyessus et al., 1994). Additionally, compacted soils tend to have lower infiltration rates due to decreased macroporosity (Kozlowski, 1999; Luce, 1997). If infiltration is substantially decreased, soil compaction can lead to increased runoff and erosion (Batey, 2009; Reynolds et al., 2011). However, in comparison to these previous studies the absolute bulk density values were lower at our sites, which may have been due to hand felling of trees on our sites, with limited use of heavy logging equipment (Ares et al., 2005; Bustos and Egan, 2011). As a result, we did not find any evidence that soil bulk density contributed to differences in plot sediment yields.

Burned soils demonstrated slight to strongly persistent water repellency at 1 and 3 cm depth before any management activities took place. Soil water repellency is the inability of water to wet or infiltrate into soil, usually due to hydrophobic organic molecules on the surface of soil particles (Doerr *et al.*, 2000). While unburned soils high in organics are often water repellent in conifer forests in the western US, burning and the resulting volatilization of organic compounds in soil can exacerbate soil water repellency after wildfire (DeBano, 1981). Soil water repellency can exacerbate surface runoff and erosion in burned forests by preventing water from infiltrating into soil (Doerr *et al.*, 2006; Shakesby and Doerr, 2006), though hillslope scale effects of soil water repellency are difficult to assess due to high spatial variability of water repellency (Doerr and Moody, 2004).

After management and a winter with above average precipitation, we saw overall decreases in soil water repellency in our plots. Soil water repellency was only slightly persistent at 1 cm and 3 cm depth in burned, and burned and salvage logged plots. This was not surprising as rain splash, soil erosion, or freeze thaw action on the soil surface can decrease soil water repellency. We have no evidence salvage logging directly affected soil water repellency at our site, as we did not perform a WDPT test immediately after logging. However, we think subsoiling may have reduced soil water repellency as it was the only treatment in which no water repellency was detected after re-testing in summer 2017 (Figure 2.3).

2.4.3 Management Implications

Knowledge on the long-term efficacy of post-fire land management approaches at mitigating erosion and sediment transport from hillslopes to streams remains limited. Given the shifting wildfire regimes observed in many regions, it will become increasingly important to understand when and where these approaches are likely to be effective to facilitate post-fire forest and water management. Our study provided surprising evidence of lower sediment yields during the first three years after the 2015 Valley Fire in northern California from both salvage logged and subsoiled hillslope plots compared to burned and unmanaged plots.

We posit that surface roughness created by wood and litter on salvage logged plot and furrows in subsoiled plots may reduce sediment transport distance in the short-term, which is typically the period of greatest risk for post-fire erosion (Robichaud *et al.*, 2000; Wagenbrenner *et al.*, 2006). This is consistent with research on the effectiveness of contour felled logs as erosion barriers in burned forests (Robichaud *et al.*, 2008b). However, the longer-term effectiveness of these post-fire management treatments remains uncertain. Recent observations from our sites suggested that in some cases sediment had filled the storage areas behind wood on the salvaged logged sites and between subsoiled ridges. Our results also suggest that the early application herbicide reduced cover and increased sediment yields in 2018. As such, longer-term research is needed to determine whether sediment yields remain lower in the post-fire managed areas.

Unsurprisingly, post-fire erosion at our site was highly variable both spatially and temporally. We recorded much higher mean plot sediment yields in the second post-fire water year (28.8 Mg ha⁻¹) than the third post-fire water year (0.9 Mg ha⁻¹). Furthermore, the burned-only plot that produced the highest cumulative sediment yield (55.7 Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) was located within 20 m of the burned-only plot that produced the lowest cumulative sediment yield (11.4 Mg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). Studies measuring post-fire erosion have recorded a wide range mean sediment yields ranging (from 0 to >10 Mg ha⁻¹) using the same methodology across sites (Wagenbrenner *et al.*, 2015). In general, measurement variability of sediment yields is related to sediment fence design, difference in spatial scale, and hydrologic connectivity to sediment fences (Boix-Fayos *et al.*, 2007). In post-fire environments, hillslope-scale and smaller variability in fire intensity or

severity can also lead to differences in surface runoff and erosion, with higher burn severity correlated with greater rates of erosion and runoff (Abrahams *et al.*, 2018; Benavides-Solorio and MacDonald, 2005; Vieira *et al.*, 2015).

Given the variable response of hillslope erosion to post-fire salvage logging and subsoiling, it also remains unclear where post-fire salvage logging or subsoiling for erosion mitigation is likely to be effective. Soil erosion following fire and post-fire land management activities depends on site-specific characteristics including slopes, soil burn severity, weather and climate, and logging equipment operation (Cambi *et al.*, 2015; Moody *et al.*, 2013; Nyman *et al.*, 2015; Perreault *et al.*, 2017; Shakesby and Doerr, 2006; Wagenbrenner *et al.*, 2016). Our results indicated that given certain site-specific characteristics and operational approaches (i.e., subsoiling parallel to the contour) that post-fire salvage logging and/or subsequent subsoiling may not always negatively influence soil erosion and downslope transport of sediment. As such, we strongly advocate for the need for additional research on post-fire land management approaches across a broader range or regions and post-fire conditions.

2.5 References

- Abrahams ER, Kaste JM, Ouimet W, Dethier DP. 2018. Asymmetric hillslope erosion following wildfire in Fourmile Canyon, Colorado. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms* **43** : 2009–2021. DOI: 10.1002/esp.4348.
- Ares A, Terry TA, Miller RE, Anderson HW, Flaming BL. 2005. Ground-Based Forest Harvesting Effects on Soil Physical Properties and Douglas-Fir Growth. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 69 : 1822. DOI: 10.2136/sssaj2004.0331.
- Arkle RS, Pilliod DS, Strickler K. 2010. Fire, flow and dynamic equilibrium in stream macroinvertebrate communities. *Freshwater Biology* 55 : 299–314. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02275.x.
- Batey T. 2009. Soil compaction and soil management a review. *Soil Use and Management* **25** : 335–345. DOI: 10.1111/j.1475-2743.2009.00236.x.
- Benavides-Solorio J, MacDonald LH. 2001. Post-fire runoff and erosion from simulated rainfall on small plots, Colorado Front Range. *Hydrological Processes* **15** : 2931–2952. DOI: 10.1002/hyp.383.
- Benavides-Solorio JDD, MacDonald LH. 2005. Measurement and prediction of post-fire erosion at the hillslope scale, Colorado Front Range. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **14** : 457–474. DOI: 10.1071/WF05042.
- Bixby RJ, Cooper SD, Gresswell RE, Brown LE, Dahm CN, Dwire KA. 2015. Fire effects on aquatic ecosystems: an assessment of the current state of the science. *Freshwater Science* 34 : 1340–1350. DOI: 10.1086/684073.
- Bladon KD, Emelko MB, Silins U, Stone M. 2014. Wildfire and the Future of Water Supply. *Environmental Science & Technology* **48** : 8936–8943. DOI: 10.1021/es500130g.
- Boix-Fayos C, Martínez-Mena M, Calvo-Cases A, Arnau-Rosalén E, Albaladejo J, Castillo V. 2007. Causes and underlying processes of measurement variability in field erosion plots in Mediterranean conditions. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms* 32 : 85–101. DOI: 10.1002/esp.1382.
- Bonham CD. 2013. Measurements for Terrestrial Vegetation . Wiley:New York, NY
- Bustos O, Egan A. 2011. A Comparison of Soil Compaction Associated with Four Ground-Based Harvesting Systems. *Northern Journal of Applied Forestry* **28** : 194–8.
- Cambi M, Certini G, Neri F, Marchi E. 2015. The impact of heavy traffic on forest soils: A review. *Forest Ecology and Management* **338** : 124–138. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2014.11.022.
- Carlson CA, Fox TR, Colbert SR, Kelting DL, Allen HL, Albaugh TJ. 2006. Growth and survival of Pinus taeda in response to surface and subsurface tillage in the southeastern United States. *Forest Ecology and Management* 234 : 209–217. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2006.07.002.
- Cavalli M, Trevisani S, Comiti F, Marchi L. 2013. Geomorphometric assessment of spatial sediment connectivity in small Alpine catchments. *Geomorphology* **188** : 31–41. DOI: 10.1016/j.geomorph.2012.05.007.
- Cerdà A, Robichaud PR (eds). 2009. Fire Effects on Soils and Restoration Strategies . Land recon. Science Publishers:Enfield, NH
- Chianucci F, Cutini A. 2012. Digital hemispherical photography for estimating forest canopy

properties: current controversies and opportunities. *iForest - Biogeosciences and Forestry* **5** : 290–295. DOI: 10.3832/ifor0775-005.

- Croke J, Mockler S, Fogarty P, Takken I. 2005. Sediment concentration changes in runoff pathways from a forest road network and the resultant spatial pattern of catchment connectivity. *Geomorphology* **68** : 257–268. DOI: 10.1016/j.geomorph.2004.11.020.
- Davenport DW, Breshears DD, Wilcox BP, Allen CD. 2016. Sustainability of Piñon-Juniper Ecosystems : A Unifying Perspective of Soil Erosion Thresholds. *Journal of Range Management* 51 : 231–240.
- DeBano LF. 1981. Water repellent soils: a state-of-the-art. *General Technical Report PSW-GTR-*46 : 1–21.
- Dellasala DA, Karr JR, Schoennagel T, Perry D, Noss RF, Lindenmayer D, Beschta R, Hutto RL, Swanson ME, Evans J. 2006. Post-Fire Logging Debate Ignores Many Issues. *Science* **314** : 9–12.
- Doerr SH, Moody JA. 2004. Hydrological effects of soil water repellency: on spatial and temporal uncertainties. *Hydrological Processes* **18** : 829–832. DOI: 10.1002/hyp.5518.
- Doerr SH, Shakesby RA, Blake WH, Chafer CJ, Humphreys GS, Wallbrink PJ. 2006. Effects of differing wildfire severities on soil wettability and implications for hydrological response. *Journal of Hydrology* **319** : 295–311. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2005.06.038.
- Doerr SH, Shakesby RA, Walsh RPD. 2000. Soil water repellency: its causes, characteristics and hydro-geomorphological significance. *Earth-Science Reviews* **51** : 33–65. DOI: 10.1016/S0012-8252(00)00011-8.
- Donato DC, Fontaine JB, Campbell JL, Robinson WD, Kauffman JB, Law BE. 2006. Post-Wildfire Logging Hinders Regeneration and Increases Fire Risk. *Science* **311** : 352.
- Donato DC, Fontaine JB, Kauffman JB, Robinson WD, Law BE. 2013. Fuel mass and forest structure following stand-replacement fire and post-fire logging in a mixed-evergreen forest. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **22** : 652–666. DOI: 10.1071/WF12109.
- Driscoll WC. 1996. Robustness of the ANOVA and Tukey-Kramer statistical tests. *Computers & Industrial Engineering* **31** : 265–268. DOI: 10.1016/0360-8352(96)00127-1.
- Ebel BA, Moody JA. 2017. Synthesis of soil-hydraulic properties and infiltration timescales in wildfire-affected soils. *Hydrological Processes* **31** : 324–340. DOI: 10.1002/hyp.10998.
- Ebel BA, Moody JA, Martin DA. 2012. Hydrologic conditions controlling runoff generation immediately after wildfire. *Water Resources Research* **48** : 1–13. DOI: 10.1029/2011WR011470.
- Emelko MB, Silins U, Bladon KD, Stone M. 2011. Implications of land disturbance on drinking water treatability in a changing climate: Demonstrating the need for "source water supply and protection" strategies. *Water Research* 45 : 461–472. DOI: 10.1016/j.watres.2010.08.051.
- Emelko MB, Stone M, Silins U, Allin D, Collins AL, Williams CHS, Martens AM, Bladon KD. 2016. Sediment-phosphorus dynamics can shift aquatic ecology and cause downstream legacy effects after wildfire in large river systems. *Global Change Biology* 22 : 1168– 1184. DOI: 10.1111/gcb.13073.
- Fernández C, Fontúrbel T, Vega JA. 2019. Effects of pre-fire site preparation and post-fire erosion barriers on soil erosion after a wildfire in NW Spain. *Catena* 172 : 691–698. DOI: 10.1016/j.catena.2018.09.038.
- Fernández C, Vega JA. 2016. Effects of mulching and post-fire salvage logging on soil erosion

and vegetative regrowth in NW Spain. *Forest Ecology and Management* **375** : 46–54. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2016.05.024.

- Flannigan MD, Krawchuk MA, de Groot WJ, Wotton MB, Gowman LM. 2009. Implications of changing climate for global wildland fire. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* 18: 483–507. DOI: 10.1071/WF08187.
- Foltz RB, Wagenbrenner NS. 2010. An evaluation of three wood shred blends for post-fire erosion control using indoor simulated rain events on small plots. *Catena* **80** : 86–94. DOI: 10.1016/j.catena.2009.09.003.
- García-Orenes F, Arcenegui V, Chrenková K, Mataix-Solera J, Moltó J, Jara-Navarro AB, Torres MP. 2017. Effects of salvage logging on soil properties and vegetation recovery in a fire-affected Mediterranean forest: A two year monitoring research. *Science of the Total Environment* 586 : 1057–1065. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.02.090.
- Geißler C, Kühn P, Böhnke M, Bruelheide H, Shi X, Scholten T. 2012. Splash erosion potential under tree canopies in subtropical SE China. *Catena* **91** : 85–93. DOI: 10.1016/j.catena.2010.10.009.
- Ghebreiyessus YT, Gantzer CJ, Alberts EE, Lentz RW. 1994. Soil erosion by concentrated flow. Shear stress and bulk density. *Transactions of the ASAE* **37** : 1791–1797. DOI: https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.28268.
- Glatthorn J, Beckschäfer P, Becksch??fer P, Beckschäfer P, Becksch??fer P, Beckschäfer P.
 2014. Standardizing the protocol for hemispherical photographs: Accuracy assessment of binarization algorithms. Rocchini D (ed). *PLoS ONE* 9 : 1–19. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0111924.
- Hallema DW, Robinne F-N, Bladon KD. 2018a. Reframing the Challenge of Global Wildfire Threats to Water Supplies. *Earth's Future* **6** : 772–776. DOI: 10.1029/2018EF000867.
- Hallema DW, Sun G, Caldwell P V., Norman SP, Cohen EC, Liu Y, Bladon KD, McNulty SG. 2018b. Burned forests impact water supplies. *Nature Communications* 9 : 1307. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-018-03735-6.
- Helming K, Romkens M, Prasad S. 1998. Surface roughness related process of runoff and soil loss: A flume study. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* **62** : 243–250.
- Helvey JD. 1980. Effects of a north central Washington wildfire on runoff and sediment production. *Water Resources Bulletin* **16** : 627–634.
- Hieke F, Schmidt J. 2013. The effect of soil bulk density on rill erosion results of experimental studies. *Zeitschrift für Geomorphologie* **57** : 245–266. DOI: 10.1127/0372-8854/2012/0091.
- Hohner AK, Terry LG, Townsend EB, Summers RS, Rosario-Ortiz FL. 2017. Water treatment process evaluation of wildfire-affected sediment leachates. *Environmental Science: Water Research and Technology* **3** : 352–365. DOI: 10.1039/c6ew00247a.
- James CE, Krumland B. 2018. Immediate Post–Forest Fire Salvage Logging, Soil Erosion, and Sediment Delivery. *Forest Science* **64** : 246–267. DOI: 10.1093/forsci/fxx013.
- Johansen MP, Hakonson TE, Breshears DD. 2001. Post-fire runoff and erosion from rainfall simulation: Contrasting forests with shrublands and grasslands. *Hydrological Processes* 15 : 2953–2965. DOI: 10.1002/hyp.384.
- Karr JR, Rhodes JJ, Minshall GW, Hauer FR, Beschta RL, Frissell CA, Perry DA. 2004. The effects of postfire salvage logging on aquatic ecosystems in the American West. *Bioscience* 54 : 1029–1033. DOI: 10.1641/0006-

3568(2004)054[1029:TEOPSL]2.0.CO;2.

- Klock GO. 1975. Impact of five postfire salvage logging systems on soils and vegetation. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* **30** : 78–81.
- Kozlowski TTT. 1999. Soil compaction and growth of woody plants. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* **14** : 596–619. DOI: 10.1080/02827589908540825.
- Kunze MD, Stednick JD. 2006. Streamflow and suspended sediment yied following the 2000 Bobcat fire, Colorado. *Hydrological Processes* **20** : 1661–1681. DOI: 10.1002/hyp.5954.
- Langhans C, Nyman P, Noske PJ, Van der Sant RE, Lane PNJ, Sheridan GJ. 2017. Post-fire hillslope debris flows: Evidence of a distinct erosion process. *Geomorphology* 295 : 55– 75. DOI: 10.1016/j.geomorph.2017.06.008.
- Leverkus AB et al. 2018. Salvage logging effects on regulating and supporting ecosystem services a systematic map. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **48** : 983–1000. DOI: 10.1139/cjfr-2018-0114.
- Leverkus AB, Puerta-Piñero C, Guzmán-Álvarez JR, Navarro J, Castro J. 2012. Post-fire salvage logging increases restoration costs in a Mediterranean mountain ecosystem. *New Forests* 43: 601–613. DOI: 10.1007/s11056-012-9327-7.
- Lewis J, Rhodes JJ, Bradley C. 2018. Turbidity Responses from Timber Harvesting, Wildfire, and Post-Fire Logging in the Battle Creek Watershed, Northern California. *Environmental Management* DOI: 10.1007/s00267-018-1036-3.
- Lindenmayer DB, Foster DR, Franklin JF, Hunter ML, Noss RF, Schmiegelow FA, Perry D. 2004. Salvage Harvesting Policies After Natural Disturbance. *Science* **303** : 1303–1303. DOI: 10.1126/science.1093438.
- Lindenmayer DB, Noss RF. 2006. Salvage Logging, Ecosystem Processes, and Biodiversity Conservation. *Conservation Biology* **20** : 949–958. DOI: 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2006.00497.x.
- Litschert SE, MacDonald LH. 2009. Frequency and characteristics of sediment delivery pathways from forest harvest units to streams. *Forest Ecology and Management* **259** : 143–150. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2009.09.038.
- Luce CH. 1997. Effectiveness of Road Ripping in Restoring Infiltration Capacity of Forest Roads. *Restoration Ecology* **5** : 265–270. DOI: 10.1046/j.1526-100X.1997.09731.x.
- Maia P, Keizer J, Vasques A, Abrantes N, Roxo L, Fernandes P, Ferreira A, Moreira F. 2014.
 Post-fire plant diversity and abundance in pine and eucalypt stands in Portugal: Effects of biogeography, topography, forest type and post-fire management. *Forest Ecology and Management* 334 : 154–162. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2014.08.030.
- Malmon D V., Reneau SL, Katzman D, Lavine A, Lyman J. 2007. Suspended sediment transport in an ephemeral stream following wildfire. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface* **112** : 1–16. DOI: 10.1029/2005JF000459.
- Malvar MC, Prats SA, Nunes JP, Keizer JJ. 2011. Post-fire overland flow generation and interrill erosion under simulated rainfall in two eucalypt stands in north-central Portugal. *Environmental Research* **111** : 222–236. DOI: 10.1016/j.envres.2010.09.003.
- Malvar MC, Silva FC, Prats SA, Vieira DCS, Coelho COA, Keizer JJ. 2017. Short-term effects of post-fire salvage logging on runoff and soil erosion. *Forest Ecology and Management* 400 : 555–567. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2017.06.031.
- Marshall SE. 2016. Soil Characterization Report for Boggs Mountain Demonstration State Forest . Arcata, CA

- May CL, Gresswell RE. 2003. Processes and rates of sediment and wood accumulation in headwater streams of the Oregon Coast Range, USA. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms* **28** : 409–424. DOI: 10.1002/esp.450.
- McCormick F, Riemen B, Kershner J. 2010. Biological responses to stressors in aquatic ecosystems in western North America: Cumulative watershed effects of fuel treatments, wildfire, and post-fire remediation. *Notes* : 206–233.
- McIver JD, Starr L. 2000. Environmental effects of postfire logging: Literature review and annotated bibliography. *General Technical Report PNW-GTR-486*
- McIver JD, Starr L. 2001. A literature review on the environmental effects of postfire logging. *Western Journal of Applied Forestry* **16** : 159–168.
- Montgomery DR. 2007. Soil erosion and agricultural sustainability. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **104** : 13268–13272. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0611508104.
- Moody JA, Ebel BA. 2014. Infiltration and runoff generation processes in fire-affected soils. *Hydrological Processes* **28** : 3432–3453. DOI: 10.1002/hyp.9857.
- Moody JA, Martin DA. 2001a. Initial hydrologic and geomorphic response following a wildfire in the Colorado front range. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms* **26** : 1049–1070. DOI: 10.1002/esp.253.
- Moody JA, Martin DA. 2001b. Post-fire, rainfall intensity-peak discharge relations for three mountainous watersheds in the Western USA. *Hydrological Processes* **15** : 2981–2993. DOI: 10.1002/hyp.386.
- Moody JA, Shakesby RA, Robichaud PR, Cannon SH, Martin DA. 2013. Current research issues related to post-wildfire runoff and erosion processes. *Earth-Science Reviews* **122** : 10–37. DOI: 10.1016/j.earscirev.2013.03.004.
- Moritz MA, Parisien M-A, Batllori E, Krawchuk MA, Van Dorn J, Ganz DJ, Hayhoe K. 2012. Climate change and disruptions to global fire activity. *Ecosphere* **3** : art49. DOI: 10.1890/ES11-00345.1.
- Morris LA, Lowery RF. 1988. Influence of site preparation on soil conditions affecting stand establishment and tree growth. *Southern Journal of Applied Forestry* **12** : 170–178.
- Müller J, Noss RF, Thorn S, Bässler C, Leverkus AB, Lindenmayer D. 2018. Increasing disturbance demands new policies to conserve intact forest. *Conservation Letters* : e12449. DOI: 10.1111/conl.12449.
- Munson SM, Long AL, Decker C, Johnson KA, Walsh K, Miller ME. 2015. Repeated landscapescale treatments following fire suppress a non-native annual grass and promote recovery of native perennial vegetation. *Biological Invasions* **17** : 1915–1926. DOI: 10.1007/s10530-015-0847-x.
- Murphy BP, Yocom LL, Belmont P. 2018. Beyond the 1984 Perspective: Narrow Focus on Modern Wildfire Trends Underestimates Future Risks to Water Security. *Earth's Future* DOI: 10.1029/2018EF001006.
- Neary DG, Ryan KC, DeBano LF. 2005. Wildland Fire in Ecosystems: Effects of fire on soil and water. *General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-42* **4**
- Niemeyer RJ, Bladon KD, Woodsmith RD. 2020. Long-term hydrologic recovery after wildfire and post-fire forest management in the interior Pacific Northwest. *Hydrological Processes* : 1182–1197. DOI: 10.1002/hyp.13665.
- Nyman P, Smith HG, Sherwin CB, Langhans C, Lane PNJ, Sheridan GJ. 2015. Predicting sediment delivery from debris flows after wildfire. *Geomorphology* **250** : 173–186. DOI:

10.1016/j.geomorph.2015.08.023.

- Origo N, Calders K, Nightingale J, Disney M. 2017. Influence of levelling technique on the retrieval of canopy structural parameters from digital hemispherical photography. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* **237–238** : 143–149. DOI: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2017.02.004.
- Ouzts J, Kolb T, Huffman D, Sánchez Meador A, Sánchez A. 2015. Post-fire ponderosa pine regeneration with and without planting in Arizona and New Mexico. *Forest Ecology and Management* **354** : 281–290. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2015.06.001.
- Padilha J, Bertol I, Magro BA, Bagio B, Marioti J, Ramos JC. 2018. Water erosion under three tillage methods in a cultivation of Eucalyptus benthamii. *Revista Árvore* **41** DOI: 10.1590/1806-90882017000600006.
- Parkhurst BM, Aust WM, Bolding MC, Barrett SM, Carter EA. 2018. Soil response to skidder trafficking and slash application. *International Journal of Forest Engineering* **29** : 1–10. DOI: 10.1080/14942119.2018.1413844.
- Perreault LM, Yager EM, Aalto R. 2017. Effects of gradient, distance, curvature and aspect on steep burned and unburned hillslope soil erosion and deposition. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms* **42** : 1033–1048. DOI: 10.1002/esp.4067.
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D, R Core Team. 2018. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models [online] Available from: https://cran.r-project.org/package=nlme
- Powers RF, Ferrell GT. 1996. Moisture, nutrient, and insect constraints on plantation growth: The "Garden of Eden" study. *New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science* **26** : 126–144.
- Powers RF, Reynolds PE. 1999. Ten-year responses of ponderosa pine plantations to repeated vegetation and nutrient control along an environmental gradient. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **29** : 1027–1038. DOI: 10.1139/x99-104.
- Prats SA, MacDonald LH, Monteiro M, Ferreira AJD, Coelho COA, Keizer JJ. 2012. Effectiveness of forest residue mulching in reducing post-fire runoff and erosion in a pine and a eucalypt plantation in north-central Portugal. *Geoderma* **191** : 115–124. DOI: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2012.02.009.
- Prats SA, Wagenbrenner JW, Martins MAS, Malvar MC, Keizer JJ. 2016. Mid-term and scaling effects of forest residue mulching on post-fire runoff and soil erosion. *Science of the Total Environment* **573** : 1242–1254. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.04.064.
- R Core Team. 2018. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. [online] Available from: https://www.r-project.org
- Reilly MJ, Dunn CJ, Meigs GW, Spies TA, Kennedy RE, Bailey JD, Briggs K. 2017. Contemporary patterns of fire extent and severity in forests of the Pacific Northwest, USA (1985-2010). *Ecosphere* 8 : e01695. DOI: 10.1002/ecs2.1695.
- Rengers FK, Tucker GE, Moody JA, Ebel BA. 2016. Illuminating wildfire erosion and deposition patterns with repeat terrestrial lidar. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface* 121 : 588–608. DOI: 10.1002/2015JF003600.
- Reynolds KM, Hessburg PF, Miller RE, Meurisse RT. 2011. Evaluating soil risks associated with severe wildfire and ground-based logging
- Rhoades CC, Chow AT, Covino TP, Fegel TS, Pierson DN, Rhea AE. 2018. The Legacy of a Severe Wildfire on Stream Nitrogen and Carbon in Headwater Catchments. *Ecosystems* DOI: 10.1007/s10021-018-0293-6.
- Robichaud PR, Beyers JL, Neary DG. 2000. Evaluating the Effectiveness of Postfire

Rehabilitation Treatments . USDA Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station Robichaud PR, Brown RE. 2002. Silt Fences : An Economical Technique for Measuring

- Hillslope Soil Erosion. *General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-94*: 28.
 Robichaud PR, Pierson FB, Brown RE, Wagenbrenner JW. 2008a. Measuring effectiveness of three postfire hillslope erosion barrier treatments, western Montana, USA. *Hydrological Processes* 22: 2267–2274. DOI: 10.1002/hyp.6558.
- Robichaud PR, Wagenbrenner JW, Brown RE. 2010. Rill erosion in natural and disturbed forests: 1. Measurements. *Water Resources Research* **46** : 1–14. DOI: 10.1029/2009WR008314.
- Robichaud PR, Wagenbrenner JW, Brown RE, Wohlgemuth PM, Beyers JL. 2008b. Evaluating the effectiveness of contour-felled log erosion barriers as a post-fire runoff and erosion mitigation treatment in the western United States. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* 17 : 255–273. DOI: 10.1071/WF07032.
- Robichaud PR, Wagenbrenner JW, Pierson FB, Spaeth KE, Ashmun LE, Moffet CA. 2016. Infiltration and interrill erosion rates after a wildfire in western Montana, USA. *Catena* 142 : 77–88. DOI: 10.1016/j.catena.2016.01.027.
- Römkens MJM, Helming K, Prasad SN. 2002. Soil erosion under different rainfall intensities, surface roughness, and soil water regimes. *Catena* **46** : 103–123.
- Rust AJ, Hogue TS, Saxe S, McCray J. 2018. Post-fire water-quality response in the western United States. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **27** : 203–216. DOI: 10.1071/WF17115.
- Saxe S, Hogue TS, Hay L. 2018. Characterization and evaluation of controls on post-fire streamflow response across western US watersheds. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* **22** : 1221–1237. DOI: 10.5194/hess-22-1221-2018.
- Schmeer SR, Kampf SK, MacDonald LH, Hewitt J, Wilson C. 2018. Empirical models of annual post-fire erosion on mulched and unmulched hillslopes. *Catena* **163** : 276–287. DOI: 10.1016/j.catena.2017.12.029.
- Shakesby RA, Doerr SH. 2006. Wildfire as a hydrological and geomorphological agent. *Earth-Science Reviews* **74** : 269–307. DOI: 10.1016/j.earscirev.2005.10.006.
- Silins U, Stone M, Emelko MB, Bladon KD. 2009. Sediment production following severe wildfire and post-fire salvage logging in the Rocky Mountain headwaters of the Oldman River Basin, Alberta. *Catena* **79** : 189–197. DOI: 10.1016/j.catena.2009.04.001.
- Slesak RA, Schoenholtz SH, Evans D. 2015. Hillslope erosion two and three years after wildfire, skyline salvage logging, and site preparation in southern Oregon, USA. *Forest Ecology* and Management **342**: 1–7. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2015.01.007.
- Smith HG, Sheridan GJ, Lane PNJ, Bren LJ. 2011a. Wildfire and salvage harvesting effects on runoff generation and sediment exports from radiata pine and eucalypt forest catchments, south-eastern Australia. *Forest Ecology and Management* 261 : 570–581. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2010.11.009.
- Smith HG, Sheridan GJ, Lane PNJ, Nyman P, Haydon S. 2011b. Wildfire effects on water quality in forest catchments: A review with implications for water supply. *Journal of Hydrology* **396** : 170–192. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2010.10.043.
- Spanos I, Raftoyannis Y, Goudelis G, Xanthopoulou E, Samara T, Tsiontsis A. 2005. Effects of postfire logging on soil and vegetation recovery in a Pinus halepensis Mill. Forest of Greece. 171–179 pp.

- Spigel KM, Robichaud PR. 2007. First-year post-fire erosion rates in Bitterroot National Forest, Montana. *Hydrological Processes* **21** : 998–1005. DOI: 10.1002/hyp.6295.
- Stevens-Rumann CS, Kemp KB, Higuera PE, Harvey BJ, Rother MT, Donato DC, Morgan P, Veblen TT. 2018. Evidence for declining forest resilience to wildfires under climate change. Lloret F (ed). *Ecology Letters* 21 : 243–252. DOI: 10.1111/ele.12889.
- Stoof CR, Ferreira AJD, Mol W, Van den Berg J, De Kort A, Drooger S, Slingerland EC, Mansholt AU, Ferreira CSS, Ritsema CJ. 2015. Soil surface changes increase runoff and erosion risk after a low-moderate severity fire. *Geoderma* 239–240 : 58–67. DOI: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2014.09.020.
- de Vente J, Poesen J, Arabkhedri M, Verstraeten G. 2007. The sediment delivery problem revisited. *Progress in Physical Geography* **31** : 155–178. DOI: 10.1177/0309133307076485.
- Vieira DCS, Fernández C, Vega JA, Keizer JJ. 2015. Does soil burn severity affect the post-fire runoff and interrill erosion response? A review based on meta-analysis of field rainfall simulation data. *Journal of Hydrology* **523** : 452–464. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.01.071.
- Wagenbrenner JW, Ebel BA, Bladon KD, Kinoshita A. n.d. A systematic review of post-wildfire hydrologic recovery in Mediterranean climates: Current knowledge, gaps, and opportunities. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*
- Wagenbrenner JW, MacDonald LH, Coats RN, Robichaud PR, Brown RE. 2015. Effects of postfire salvage logging and a skid trail treatment on ground cover, soils, and sediment production in the interior western United States. *Forest Ecology and Management* 335 : 176–193. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2014.09.016.
- Wagenbrenner JW, Macdonald LH, Rough D. 2006. Effectiveness of three post-fire rehabilitation treatments in the Colorado Front Range. *Hydrological Processes* **20** : 2989–3006. DOI: 10.1002/hyp.6146.
- Wagenbrenner JW, Robichaud PR, Brown RE. 2016. Rill erosion in burned and salvage logged western montane forests: Effects of logging equipment type, traffic level, and slash treatment. *Journal of Hydrology* **541** : 889–901. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2016.07.049.
- Westerling AL. 2016. Increasing western US forest wildfire activity: sensitivity to changes in the timing of spring. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **371** DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2015.0178.
- Will RE, Jacobson MA. 2002. II. Early Loblolly Pine Stand Response to Tillage on the Piedmont and Upper Coastal Plain of Georgia: Tree Allometry, Foliar Nitrogen Concentration, Soil Bulk Density, Soil Moisture, and Soil Nitrogen Status. *Southern Journal of Applied Forestry* 26 : 190–196.
- Wondzell SM, King JG. 2003. Postfire erosional processes in the Pacific Northwest and Rocky Mountain regions. *Forest Ecology and Management* **178** : 75–87. DOI: 10.1016/S0378-1127(03)00054-9.
- Zavala LM, Jordán A, Gil J, Bellinfante N, Pain C. 2009. Intact ash and charred litter reduces susceptibility to rain splash erosion post-wildfire. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms* 34 : 1522–1532. DOI: 10.1002/esp.1837.

2.6 Figures



Figure 2.1 Burn severity map of Boggs Mountain Demonstration State Forest (BMDSF) with rain gauges and locations of blocks of silt fences. Inset map shows location of 2015 Valley Fire in California.



Figure 2.2 Annual plot sediment yields from silt fences from burned sites and two physical postfire treatments for three water years (2016–2018). Water year 2016 was measured before postfire management treatments were applied. All sediment yields were observed before influence of herbicide treatments in summer 2018. Y-axis is in the log scale.



Figure 2.3 Annual plot sediment yields from silt fences from burned sites and five post-fire management treatments for water year 2019. Y-axis is in the log scale.



Figure 2.4 Mean fraction of ground cover and standard errors for burned sites and two physical post-fire management treatments from water years 2017 and 2018. Measurement of ground cover occurred before application of herbicide treatments in spring and summer 2018. Ground cover was measured during spring 2017 and 2018, early in the growing season.



Figure 2.5 Mean fraction of ground cover and standard errors for burned sites and five post-fire management treatments from water year 2019. Unlike water years 2017 and 2018, ground cover was measured in June 2019, later in the growing season.



Figure 2.6 Mean soil bulk density and 95% CI from burned sites and two physical post-fire management treatments (Logged and Subsoiled) over two depths (0–5 cm, 5–10 cm) for water years 2018 and 2019.



Figure 2.7 Erosion pedestals near the trunk of a standing snag indicating raindrop splash erosion, which may have been an important driver of high sediment yields in burned plots.

3 Post-fire forest management influences mineral soil carbon, nitrogen, and vegetation recovery

3.1 Introduction

In forested regions of western North America the extent and severity of wildfires, along with the length of the wildfire season, have increased dramatically in recent decades (Flannigan *et al.*, 2009b; Moritz *et al.*, 2012; Reilly *et al.*, 2017; Westerling, 2016). These notable shifts in fire activity have been linked to climate change and 20th century land management policies (i.e., fire suppression and forest management activities) that have increased fuel loads in forests (Bowman *et al.*, 2013; Flannigan *et al.*, 2009a, 2013; Miller and Urban, 2000). Despite these increases in fire activity, historical reconstructions of wildfires prior to European settlement in the United States suggest western forests have a much greater potential to burn more area annually than presently observed (Murphy *et al.*, 2018). Wildfires are projected to burn increasing areas in the western US throughout the 21st century (Littell *et al.*, 2018). This raises uncertainties regarding the immediate and long-term effects of fire on a wide range of forest values, including water supply originating in forests, soil properties, and forest ecosystem resilience (Hallema *et al.*, 2018a; Stevens-Rumann *et al.*, 2018; Wagenbrenner *et al.*, In review).

Forest ecosystem resilience, the ability of an ecosystem to return to its pre-disturbance structure and function, is dependent on successful tree regeneration, live and dead legacy trees, species diversity of regenerating vegetation, and spatial soil and vegetation heterogeneity (Franklin *et al.*, 2002; Johnstone *et al.*, 2016; Lindenmayer *et al.*, 2008; Seidl *et al.*, 2014; Wine *et al.*, 2018). Historically, forests in many regions of the western US burned with frequent lowor mixed-severity fires, creating a heterogeneous mosaic of vegetation communities, which were more resilient to disturbance (Franklin and Bergman, 2011; Hessburg *et al.*, 2005, 2016; Perry *et al.*, 2011). Forests that burned with mixed severity fire regimes are now burning with larger patches of high severity wildfire, which may lead to long-term changes to forest vegetation communities (Miller *et al.*, 2009; Stevens-Rumann and Morgan, 2019). Furthermore, vegetation communities recovering after a high severity fire may be less diverse than in low and moderate severity burns (Pingree and DeLuca, 2018). Recovery of diverse vegetation communities primes the forest for long-term recovery by reducing soil loss and fixing carbon and nitrogen into burned soils (Cerdà and Doerr, 2005; Johnson *et al.*, 2007; Morris and Moses, 1987; Qiao *et al.*, 2014; Shakesby *et al.*, 1993; Wagenbrenner *et al.*, 2015).

Vegetation recovery after a wildfire is dependent on nutrient availability for growth, including soil carbon and nitrogen (Cellier *et al.*, 2014; Hanley and Fenner, 2010). Soil carbon and nitrogen stocks exhibit predictive power on the productivity of forest ecosystems (Edmonds and Chappell, 1994; McLaughlin and Phillips, 2006). Carbon content and carbon/nitrogen (C:N) ratios of forest litter determine decay rates and thus, are linked to plant nutrient availability (Shi *et al.*, 2016; Taylor *et al.*, 1989). Wildfires reduce forest ecosystem stocks of soil carbon through combustion, volatilization, and increased net flux of carbon to the atmosphere (Bormann *et al.*, 2008; Urbanski, 2014; Van Der Werf *et al.*, 2010). Nitrogen, a critical limiting nutrient for forest growth, may also be lost to volatilization if soil burn temperatures exceed 200 °C (Grier, 1975; LeBauer and Treseder, 2008; Neary *et al.*, 2005; Vitousek and Howarth, 2016). Immediately after a fire, further carbon and nitrogen are exported by hillslope transport processes exacerbated by loss of erosion controls and increased surface runoff (Robichaud *et al.*, 2016; Smith *et al.*, 2011; Wondzell and King, 2003). After wildfire, forest managers often attempt to promote regeneration and maintain forest ecosystem functions (Leverkus *et al.*, 2018; Robichaud *et al.*, 2000). One of the most common post-fire forest management approaches is salvage logging (Karr *et al.*, 2004; Lindenmayer *et al.*, 2004). This practice is often justified as an approach to recover economic value from the burned timber resources, improve forest safety, reduce woody fuel loads and re-burn severity, lessen the potential for pest outbreaks, and facilitate reforestation efforts (Donato *et al.*, 2013; Malvar *et al.*, 2017; Müller *et al.*, 2018). After salvage logging, forest managers may also apply additional treatments to mitigate erosion and promote vegetation recovery. Plowing furrows along the contours of hillslopes (subsoiling) may be used with the objectives to decrease soil bulk density, break up hardpans, improve conditions for root development of newly established vegetation, and reduce runoff and erosion potential (Carlson *et al.*, 2006; Morris and Lowery, 1988; Robichaud *et al.*, 2000; Will and Jacobson, 2002).

Forest managers must consider the tradeoffs associated with the potential effects of the various post-fire land management options on soil hydraulic properties and nutrients due to potential impacts on vegetation recovery. Post-fire salvage logging removes carbon from burned forests in the form of dead wood, but it is uncertain how these activities influence soil carbon, nitrogen, and C:N ratio (Johnson *et al.*, 2005a; Powers *et al.*, 2013). Similarly, it remains uncertain how various other post-fire forest management activities impact recovery of early seral understory vegetation (Donato *et al.*, 2006; Peterson and Dodson, 2016). Standing snags left on site may serve some hydrologic function by providing shade for regenerating vegetation and therefore reducing water stress (Marañón-Jiménez *et al.*, 2013b). It is critical for researchers and forest management guidelines based on scientific understanding of soil nutrients and vegetation recovery to manage forests effectively after disturbance.

To improve our understanding of the effects of wildfire and post-fire land management on soil nutrients and initial recovery of vegetation, we performed a study in a high severity burn area of northern California. Specifically, we collected soil and vegetation samples and data from three post-fire land management strategies, including: (a) burned, (b) burned and salvage logged (salvage logged), and (c) burned, salvage logged, and subsoiled (subsoiled). Our first objective was to quantify differences in soil carbon, nitrogen, and carbon/nitrogen (C:N) ratios at two depths (0–5 cm and 5–10 cm) among the three post-fire management types. We then quantified relationships between aboveground vegetation biomass and soil carbon, nitrogen, and C:N ratios and carbon, nitrogen, and C:N ratios in eroded sediment to ground cover in erosion plots.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Site Description

The Valley Fire burned approximately 30,700 ha of forested land and wildland-urban interface in southern Lake County, California from September 12 to October 15, 2015 (Figure 3.1). During the fire, approximately 98 % (1,414 ha) of the Boggs Mountain Demonstration State Forest (BMDSF) was burned. BMDSF is a public forest, managed by the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE). It is located about 10 kilometers southwest of Clear Lake, CA, in the northern Coast Range (38°50'00.07" N 122°42'05.33" W). During the Valley Fire, about 48 % of BMDSF area burned at high severity, 34 % at moderate severity, 15 % at low severity, and 2 % remained unburned/unchanged.

The climate of the region is Mediterranean with warm dry summers and cool, wet winters (Köppen Csb). Rainfall dominates the precipitation, though there are occasional snow events

during the winter. Mean annual precipitation is 1,160 mm with the majority falling between October and April (PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University,

http://prism.oregonstate.edu).

The primary tree species across the region before the fire were ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa*), sugar pine (*Pinus lambertiana*), Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*), and California black oak (*Quercus kelloggii*). Pacific madrone (*Arbutus menziesii*) and canyon live oak (*Quercus chrysolepis*) were also present as minor components of the forest canopy.

Mean slopes of Boggs Mountain are about 27 %, which are relatively shallow compared to surrounding mountains. The elevation ranges from 700 to 1,144 m. The geology consists of a cap of igneous andesite and dacite at high elevations over sedimentary sandstone and mudstone at lower elevations. After the fire, soils were classified as deep, well-drained, xeric andisols with a sandy loam texture (Marshall and Obeidy, 2016).

3.2.2 Post-fire management

We targeted four hillslopes ("blocks") across BMDSF to investigate the effects of the different post-fire land management treatments on hillslope sediment transport. These hillslopes were located on the upper slopes of BMDSF between elevations of 1,050–1,113 m, with mean slopes of 22–31 %, and NNW and ESE aspects. We constructed 25 sediment fences modified from Robichaud and Brown (2002) to trap eroded sediment from hillslope plots. Each "plot" was approximately 5 m wide by 15 m long with a sediment fence constructed at the downslope end to catch sediment transported during storm events, though the exact contributing area to each fence varied due to microtopographic features.

Most of BMDSF was salvage logged approximately one year after the fire, excluding unburned forest and riparian corridors. Burned trees were primarily hand-felled and skidded to landings with wheeled or tracked skidders and cable yarders. About one to two months after salvage logging, some hillslopes were subsoiled using winged blades mounted to the rear of a tracked Caterpillar D7H crawler tractor. The subsoiling blades ripped through the soil surface and plowed furrows into the soil along hillslope contour.

3.2.3 Soil and Vegetation Sample Collection

In September 2018, we collected soil samples for analysis of carbon concentration, nitrogen concentration, and carbon/nitrogen (C:N) ratios. We established sampling grids on three replicated hillslopes that were representative of each of the three types of the post-fire land management sites (burned, salvage logged, and subsoiled). All nine (three replicates of three site types) of the sample grids were located adjacent to previously established erosion plots, to facilitate comparisons between the soils and the deposited sediment. Each sample grid consisted of 20 sampling locations arranged in a 20 m x 25 m rectangle with 5 m spacing between adjacent points. At each sampling location, we collected mineral soil from two depths, 0–5 cm and 5–10 cm, for a total of 360 soil samples (120 for each site type). Litter or forest floor organic material were not sampled. After collection, all soil and samples were placed into Whirl-Pak bags and kept cold until we were able to prepare the samples for nutrient analysis.

We also collected samples of eroded mineral sediment from 25 sediment fences, which were located at the base of the hillslopes representing each of the three site types. Samples were collected following seven major storm events from January 2018 to July 2019. Following each storm event, we collect a ~50 g sediment samples from each of the 25 sediment fences during routine sediment fence cleaning (see 2.2.2), which resulted in a total of 174 sediment samples.

During the September 2018 soil sampling, we also collected aboveground plant biomass and measured vegetation percent cover at a subset of the soil sampling locations. Three sampling locations within each of the nine soil sampling grids (27 total locations) were randomly selected for biomass collection. Before biomass collection, we estimated percent vegetation cover within a 1 m quadrat that was centered on the soil sampling location. We then clipped all aboveground biomass within the 1 m quadrat and placed it into plastic bags, which were transported to the lab and kept refrigerated until sample processing.

We also measured surface cover of the contributing area to each of the 25 sediment fences in March 2018 and June 2019. We used the point intercept method to quantify surface cover on three 1-m², 100-point quadrats in each plot (Bonham, 2013). Cover categories included bare mineral soil, litter, wood (>10 mm diameter), gravel (>5 mm), rock (>25 mm), and live vegetation.

3.2.4 Laboratory Processing

In the laboratory, soil and sediment samples were oven dried for 24 hours at 40 °C in paper bags. After drying, samples were sieved to collect the fine fraction (<2 mm) of soil. The fine fraction was then ground using a roller grinder for 24 hours or until samples were the texture of a fine powder. The samples were then dry combusted in an Elementar Vario Macro Cube from Elementar Analysensysteme GmbH (Langenselbold, Germany) to determine total carbon and nitrogen concentrations. Biomass samples were then oven dried at 60 °C until all moisture was lost from the sample. After drying, biomass samples were weighed to determine aboveground vegetation biomass.

3.2.5 Statistical Analyses

We used linear mixed effects models to compare differences in soil and sediment C:N ratio, total carbon concentration, and total nitrogen concentration among treatments within the same water year. We used random effects to adjust our comparisons by plot number and block and allowed for unequal variances between groups. Pair-wise comparisons between site types within each year were calculated using Tukey-Kramer adjustment (Driscoll, 1996). We also used linear mixed effects models to analyze relationships between vegetation biomass, vegetation cover, wood cover, and soil carbon and nitrogen concentrations, and C:N ratios. We used linear mixed effects models to analyze changes in sediment carbon and nitrogen metrics over time within each treatment. All statistical analyses were conducted using R programming environment (R Core Team, 2018), and linear mixed effects models were created using the *nlme* package (Pinheiro *et al.*, 2018).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Soil Carbon and Nitrogen

At 0–5 cm depth in the soil, the mean C:N ratio and 95 % confidence interval [*CI*] was 25.8 [20.2, 31.3] in the burned sites, 28.3 [22.7, 33.8] in the salvage logged sites, and 29.2 [23.7, 34.7] in the subsoiled sites (Figure 3.2). Statistically, there was strong evidence that the mean C:N ratio at 0–5 cm soil depth was lower in the burned sites compared to the salvage logged (t =

-2.50, p = 0.0006) and the subsoiled (t = -3.43, p < 0.0001) sites. Comparatively, there was no statistical evidence for a difference in mean soil C:N ratio between the salvage logged and subsoiled sites (t = -0.92, p = 0.346).

At 5–10 cm depth in the soil, the mean C:N ratio from the burned sites was 26.4 [20.9, 32.0] (Figure 3.2). Mean C:N ratio at 5–10 cm soil depth in the salvage logged sites was 29.8 [24.3, 35.4] and from the subsoiled sites was 31.4 [25.8, 36.9]. Statistically, there was strong evidence that the mean soil C:N ratio at 5–10 cm depth was lower in the burned sites compared to the salvage logged (t = -3.41, p < 0.0001) and the subsoiled sites (t = -4.93, p < 0.0001). Additionally, there was weak evidence for a statistical difference in mean soil C:N ratio between the salvage logged and subsoiled sites (t = -1.53, p = 0.056) at this soil depth.

There was statistical evidence mean soil C:N ratios were greater at 5–10 cm depth compared to 0–5 cm depth in both the salvage logged (t = 2.39, p = 0.018) and subsoiled (t = 3.30, p = 0.001) sites. However, there was no statistical evidence for a difference in C:N ratio between 0–5 cm and 5–10 cm depths in the burned soils (t = 1.02, p = 0.308).

At the 0–5 cm depth, mean soil carbon concentration was 4.88 [3.12, 6.64] % in the burned sites, 5.38 [3.63, 7.13] % in the salvage logged sites, and 6.30 [4.54, 8.05] % in the subsoiled sites (Figure 3.3). There was no statistical evidence for a difference between mean soil carbon concentration between the burned and salvage logged sites (t = -0.50, p = 0.178). However, there was strong statistical evidence for a difference in mean soil carbon concentration between the burned sites (t = -1.42, p < 0.0001) and between the salvage logged and subsoiled sites (t = -0.92, p = 0.0036).

At the 5–10 cm depth, mean soil carbon concentration were 3.63 [1.88, 5.38] % in the burned sites, 4.73 [2.98, 6.48] % in the salvage logged sites, and 5.15 [3.39, 6.90] % in the
subsoiled sites (Figure 3.3). Statistically, there was strong evidence for a difference between mean soil carbon concentration between the burned and salvage logged sites (t = -1.10, p = 0.0003) and between the burned and subsoiled sites (t = -1.52, p < 0.0001). Comparatively, there was no statistical evidence for a difference in mean soil carbon concentration between the salvage logged and subsoiled sites (t = -0.42, p = 0.300).

There was strong statistical evidence that the mean soil carbon concentration was greater at 0–5 cm depth as compared to the 5–10 cm depth in all sites (burned: (t = -4.42, p < 0.0001); salvage logged: (t = -2.32, p = 0.021); subsoiled: (t = -4.09, p = 0.0001).

At the 0–5 cm depth, mean soil nitrogen concentrations were 0.191 [0.156, 0.225] % in the burned sites, 0.190 [0.156, 0.225] % in the salvage logged sites, and 0.216 [0.181, 0.251] % in the subsoiled sites (Figure 3.4). There was no statistical evidence for a difference between mean soil nitrogen concentration between the burned and salvage logged sites (t = 0.03, p >0.99). However, there was strong statistical evidence for a difference in mean soil nitrogen concentration between the burned and subsoiled sites (t = -2.73, p = 0.018) and between the salvage logged and subsoiled sites (t = -2.77, p = 0.016).

At the 5–10 cm depth, mean soil nitrogen concentration was 0.140 [0.106, 0.175] % in the burned site, 0.157 [0.122, 0.192] % in the salvage logged sites, and 0.160 [0.181, 0.195] % in the subsoiled sites (Figure 3.4). There was limited to no statistical evidence for a difference between mean soil nitrogen concentration between the burned and salvage logged sites (t = -1.82, p = 0.17) and between salvage logged and subsoiled sites (t = -0.35, p = 0.93). However, there was weak statistical evidence for a difference in mean soil nitrogen concentration between the burned and subsoiled sites (t = -2.17, p = 0.078). There was strong statistical evidence that the mean soil nitrogen concentration was greater at 0–5 cm depth as compared to the 5–10 cm depth in all sites (burned: (t = -5.44, p < 0.0001); salvage logged: (t = -3.62, p = 0.0003); subsoiled: (t = -6.03, p < 0.0001).

3.3.2 Sediment Fence Carbon and Nitrogen

Geometric mean sediment C:N ratio and 95 % confidence interval [*CI*] from the burned treatment was 28.6 [25.4, 32.2] (Figure 3.2). Geometric mean sediment C:N ratio from the salvage logged sites was 35.4 [32.6, 38.5] and from the subsoiled sites was 36.8 [33.5, 40.5]. Statistically, there was strong evidence that the geometric mean C:N ratio in the sediment from the salvage logged sites was greater than in the burned sites (t = -4.76, p = 0.0004). There was also strong evidence geometric mean C:N ratio in the sediment was greater in subsoiled sites relative to the burned sites (t = -5.36, p = 0.0001). Comparatively, there was no statistical evidence for a difference in geometric mean sediment C:N ratio between the salvage logged and subsoiled sites (t = -0.99, p = 0.59).

Geometric mean sediment carbon concentration was 6.3 [4.0, 9.9] % in the burned sites, 6.3 [4.4, 8.9] % in the salvage logged sites, and 5.6 [3.8, 8.3] % in the subsoiled sites (Figure 3.3). Statistically, there was no evidence for a difference in geometric mean sediment carbon concentration among any pairwise comparisons between the sites: burned vs salvage logged (t =0.04, p > 0.99); burned vs subsoiled (t = 0.76, p = 0.73); salvage logged vs subsoiled (t = 0.90, p =0.65).

Geometric mean sediment nitrogen concentration was 0.22 [0.14, 0.34] % in the burned sites, 0.18 [0.13, 0.25] % in the salvage logged sites, and 0.15 [0.11, 0.22] % in the subsoiled

sites (Figure 3.4). Statistically, there was no evidence for a difference in geometric mean sediment nitrogen concentration between burned and salvage logged sites (t = 1.53, p = 0.30) or salvage logged and subsoiled sites (t = 1.20, p = 0.47). However, there was suggestive evidence that the geometric mean nitrogen concentration in the sediment from the burned sites was greater than the subsoiled sites (t = 2.39, p = 0.068).

3.3.3 Aboveground Vegetation Biomass and Ground Cover

Geometric mean biomass and 95 % *CIs* from September 2018 were 167.6 [65.4, 429.9] g in the burned sites, 61.6 [24.0, 157.9] g in the salvage logged sites, and 27.9 [10.9, 71.5] g in the subsoiled sites (Figure 3.5). There was no statistical evidence for a difference in geometric mean biomass between burned and salvage logged sites (t = 1.56, p = 0.284) or salvage logged and subsoiled sites (t = 1.24, p = 0.446). However, there was strong statistical evidence that the geometric mean biomass was greater in the burned sites compared to the subsoiled sites (t = 2.79, p = 0.027).

We found no evidence that vegetation biomass was related to soil C:N ratio at 0–5 cm depth (t = -0.68, p = 0.51) or 5–10 cm depth (t = -1.54, p = 0.14). We also found no statistical evidence that vegetation biomass was related to total carbon concentration at 0–5 cm depth (t = 0.01, p = 0.99) or 5–10 cm depth (t = -0.67, p = 0.51). Similarly, there was no statistical evidence that vegetation biomass was related to total nitrogen concentration at 0–5 cm depth (t = -0.05, p = 0.96) or 5–10 cm depth (t = 0.26, p = 0.80).

In 2018, we found evidence sediment C:N ratio was positively correlated with wood cover (t = 3.07, p = 0.006), but not vegetation cover (t = 0.41, p = 0.68). Inversely, we found

evidence sediment carbon concentration was positively correlated with vegetation cover (t = 2.48, p = 0.023), but not wood cover (t = 0.86, p = 0.40). However, there was no evidence sediment nitrogen concentration was correlated with either wood cover (t = -1.45, p = 0.16) or vegetation cover (t = 0.16, p = 0.88).

In 2019, we found evidence that C:N ratios in the eroded sediment were positively correlated with wood cover (t = 2.52, p = 0.02), but not vegetation cover (t = 0.55, p = 0.59). Comparatively, we also found no evidence that carbon concentrations in the sediment were correlated with vegetation cover (t = -0.79, p = 0.44) or wood cover (t = -1.56, p = 0.14). Similar to the C:N ratios, we found evidence that nitrogen concentrations in the sediment samples were negatively correlated with wood cover (t = -2.49, p = 0.02), but not vegetation cover (t = -0.96, p = 0.35).

3.4 Discussion

We found soil C:N ratios in burned sites were ~9–12 % lower than salvage logged sites and ~12–16 % lower than subsoiled sites at both soil depths (Figure 3.2). We saw even more dramatic differences in the C:N ratios of sediment eroded from hillslopes of the three post-fire site types—in the burned sites, the C:N ratio was ~19 % lower than the salvage logged sites and ~22 % lower than subsoiled sites. Unexpectedly, our results contrast with multiple studies that have found post-fire salvage logging did not affect soil C:N ratios in surface mineral soils across many environments and forest types (Francos *et al.*, 2018; Johnson *et al.*, 2005b; Parro *et al.*, 2019; Poirier *et al.*, 2014). For example, 20 years after wildfire and post-fire salvage logging in eastern Sierra Nevada there were no differences in soil C:N ratios between site types (Johnson *et* *al.*, 2005b). Johnson *et al.* (2005b) reported soil C:N ratios ~25–50 % lower than we measured, further suggesting N fixing vegetation may have had long-term impacts on soils beyond the first four years after fire and salvage logging. Studies in boreal forests reported thick O horizons with high C:N ratios overlaying mineral soil (Parro *et al.*, 2019; Poirier *et al.*, 2014); in contrast, our site lacked a developed O horizon at the time of sampling. Additionally, they reported C:N ratios (33.1–48.4) in surface mineral soils after fire greater than we observed (25.6–36.8) (Parro *et al.*, 2019; Poirier *et al.*, 2014), which may be related to immobilization of nitrogen in organic horizons or leaching of nitrogen past surface eluvial horizons found in boreal podzols (Piirainen *et al.*, 2002). C:N ratios in mineral soil two to ten months after fire in Spain ranged from 20–30 (Francos *et al.*, 2018), but no response of soil C:N ratios to post-fire wood management 2–10 months after the fire. Our results corroborate this idea, as we observed greater C:N ratios in sites with greater mechanical soil disturbance (burned < salvage logged < subsoiled).

Mean soil carbon concentrations also increased with disturbance (Figure 3.3), though those differences only met our threshold for statistical significance in the burned soils at 5–10 cm and subsoiled soils at 0–5 cm depth. Interestingly, we saw the opposite trend in eroded sediment, as sediment samples from the burned plots had the highest mean carbon concentration and subsoiled plots had the lowest. Our findings are similar to a study investigating post-fire salvage logging in the Sierra Nevada of California that reported soil carbon in the A horizon was higher in salvage logged sites than sites burned but not salvage logged 20 years after fire (Johnson *et al.*, 2005b). A study in Spain measured lower organic matter in surface mineral soils affected by salvage logging compared to unlogged soils two years after a moderate severity fire (García-Orenes *et al.*, 2017). Other studies have measured soil carbon unaffected by salvage logging in different forest ecosystems. Eucalypt forests in Australia had lower soil organic carbon concentrations in forests with more fire and forest harvesting disturbance, but post-fire salvage logging specifically did not appear to influence organic carbon content in soils (Bowd *et al.*, 2019). Boreal forests in Quebec had similar soil organic carbon concentrations between logged and unlogged soils seven years after burning at low severity (Poirier *et al.*, 2014). Salvage logging also had no effect on soil carbon content in a boreal forest in Estonia (Parro *et al.*, 2019).

We did not find any correlation between vegetation biomass and soil C:N ratio, carbon concentration, or nitrogen concentration at either 0–5 cm or 5–10 cm depth. This was surprising considering we observed ~2.7-times greater vegetation biomass in the burned sites compared to the salvage logged and ~6-times greater biomass in the burned sites compared to the subsoiled sites (Figure 3.5). We expected vegetation biomass to be correlated to soil carbon and nitrogen since vegetation can influence soil carbon and nitrogen in multiple ways, including rhizodeposition of carbon (Hütsch et al., 2002), litter decomposition, and symbiosis with nitrogen-fixing bacteria (Vessey, 2003). Inversely, soil carbon and nitrogen can influence the regrowth of vegetation in burned forests by providing essential nutrients for plants and soil microbial communities (Cellier et al., 2014; Hanley and Fenner, 2010). Furthermore, multiple post-fire studies have linked elevated soil carbon and nitrogen concentrations with post-fire vegetation growth, particularly in sites with large communities of nitrogen fixers (García-Orenes et al., 2017; Johnson et al., 2007, 2005b; Johnson and Curtis, 2001a). The only vegetation response we saw was a positive correlation between vegetation cover and sediment total carbon concentration from 2018. Some of the mechanisms described above may explain this result, but we are unsure why vegetation was correlated with carbon concentrations in sediment fences for only one wet season.

Wood deposited on the soil surface by salvage logging appeared to drive differences in C:N ratios in sediment. High C:N ratios in our sediment samples were correlated with higher levels of wood cover in erosion plots in 2018 and 2019, and nitrogen concentrations were negatively correlated with wood cover in 2019. Wood has relatively high C:N ratios compared to herbaceous vegetation (Brady and Weil, 2010), and decay of wood has been linked to higher soil C:N ratios in post-fire environments (Black and Harden, 1995; Marañón-Jiménez and Castro, 2013). Forest harvesting practices that leave wood on site have been directly linked to higher levels of soil carbon and nitrogen in unburned conifer forests compared to harvest of whole trees (Johnson and Curtis, 2001b). Salvage logging practices at our site brought wood down to the forest floor and soil disturbance by tracked skidders and subsoilers may have promoted its incorporation into the soil matrix. It is possible that wood was linked to higher C:N ratios in our sediment fences by transport of wood or organic matter rather than decomposition. In fact, we observed wood in our sediment fences, particularly after storm events brought down large branches from standing snags. However, we think the C:N ratio of the sediment samples represent C:N ratios in the soil for three reasons: 1) Carbon concentration from sediment was not particularly elevated compared to the soil surface (Figure 3.3), 2) Carbon concentration in sediment was not related to wood in our plots, and 3) We observed greater amounts of wood in sediment fences at burned sites since branches could only fall into fences from sites with standing snags.

Our results suggest salvage logging and wood management have the potential to influence the short-term recovery trajectory of soil C:N ratios. Three years after wildfire and post-fire land management, the C:N ratios in the upper mineral soil at all our sites ranged from 25.8–31.4. These high ratios could lead to reduced nitrogen availability, as previous studies have

shown C:N ratios above 20–25 can increase nitrogen immobilization in the soil (Brady and Weil, 2010; Manzoni *et al.*, 2010). Similarly, soil disturbance by forest harvesting can decrease microbial biomass and depress genes related to nitrogen cycling in soil, further slowing decomposition and nutrient cycling two to six years after harvesting in forests with Mediterranean climates (Busse *et al.*, 2006; Pereg *et al.*, 2018). Additionally, salvage logging may slow recovery of soil microbes and basal soil respiration, decreasing nutrient cycling compared to burned but unharvested forests (García-Orenes *et al.*, 2017). Such a range of effects, leading to high C:N ratios, driven by low nitrogen availability, could potentially limit forest growth and post-fire vegetation recovery (Edmonds and Chappell, 1994; McLaughlin and Phillips, 2006). While we did not observe statistical evidence of a direct relationship between soil C:N ratios and vegetation biomass at our sites, mean vegetation biomass was ~63 % lower in the salvage logged sites and ~83 % lower in the subsoiled sites relative to the burned only sites, which may be indicative of vegetation recovery limited by nitrogen availability.

In the longer term, wood is a considerable pool of micronutrients that may eventually become available for use by recovering vegetation. Post-fire research in Spain found that decomposing coarse wood contained 2- to 9-times more nutrients than the soil, and decomposition of wood increased soil nitrogen by 26 % and phosphorous by 68 % (Marañón-Jiménez *et al.*, 2013a; Marañón-Jiménez and Castro, 2013). One meta-analysis of residue retention practices after harvest in unburned forests found tree growth was reduced by up to 7 % 33 years after harvest and removal of all residue compared to less intensive harvests, which they attributed to nutrient losses after residue removal (Achat *et al.*, 2015). There is some long-term evidence from Australia that soil nutrient concentrations are lower in eucalypt forests affected by fire and forest harvesting up to 80 years after disturbance (Bowd *et al.*, 2019). Removal of wood

by salvage logging after fire may lead to an overall loss of nutrients from a forest ecosystem, though results from our study show that salvage logging has the potential to influence nutrient cycling by increasing soil contact with wood.

Our study illustrated that wildfires and post-fire land management can affect soil nutrients and vegetation biomass. However, the long-term trajectory of effects of wildfires and post-fire management remains uncertain as there are comparatively few long-term studies in the literature (Donato et al., 2016; Niemeyer et al., 2020; Patel et al., 2019). Moreover, the study by Johnson et al. (2005) illustrated that effects from post-fire salvage logging on soil carbon and nitrogen could potentially persist for multiple decades (Bowd et al., 2019; Johnson et al., 2007). Salvage logging exports carbon and nitrogen through removal of timber, erosion, and leaching (Johnson et al., 2005b; Marañón-Jiménez et al., 2013b; Shakesby, 2011). We found salvage logging might also lead to slower understory vegetation regeneration, supported by other research in Mediterranean environments (García-Orenes et al., 2017). Additionally, salvage logging led to higher C:N ratios in soils and sediment at our site, likely due to the influence of wood. Nutrient concentrations in soil are not the only variables that influence plant growth after disturbance. Water stress can significantly limit the recovery growth of trees and understory vegetation after fire (Brzostek et al., 2014; Restaino et al., 2016). In xeric moisture regimes, such as our environment, controlling competing understory vegetation improved ponderosa pine growth more than soil nutrient additions in unburned forests (Powers and Reynolds, 1999). The interaction between soil carbon and nitrogen, understory vegetation growth, and plant water availability likely has a long-term impact on forest recovery after wildfire and salvage logging and is an important gap in our understanding of the full influence of post-fire salvage logging on vegetation recovery at our study site.

3.5 References

- Achat DL, Deleuze C, Landmann G, Pousse N, Ranger J, Augusto L. 2015. Quantifying consequences of removing harvesting residues on forest soils and tree growth - A metaanalysis. *Forest Ecology and Management* **348** : 124–141. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2015.03.042.
- Black TA, Harden JW. 1995. Effect of timber harvest on soil carbon storage at Blodgett Experimental Forest, California. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **25** : 1385–1396.
- Bonham CD. 2013. Measurements for Terrestrial Vegetation . Wiley:New York, NY
- Bormann BT, Homann PS, Darbyshire RL, Morrissette BA. 2008. Intense forest wildfire sharply reduces mineral soil C and N: the first direct evidence. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **38** : 2771–2783. DOI: 10.1139/X08-136.
- Bowd EJ, Banks SC, Strong CL, Lindenmayer DB. 2019. Long-term impacts of wildfire and logging on forest soils. *Nature Geoscience* **12** : 113–118. DOI: 10.1038/s41561-018-0294-2.
- Bowman DM, Murphy BP, Boer MM, Bradstock RA, Cary GJ, Cochrane MA, Fensham RJ, Krawchuk MA, Price OF, Williams RJ. 2013. Forest fire management, climate change, and the risk of catastrophic carbon losses. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* **11** : 66–67. DOI: 10.1890/13.WB.005.
- Brady NC, Weil RR. 2010. Elements of the Nature and Properties of Soils
- Brzostek ER, Dragoni D, Schmid HP, Rahman AF, Sims D, Wayson CA, Johnson DJ, Phillips RP. 2014. Chronic water stress reduces tree growth and the carbon sink of deciduous hardwood forests. *Global Change Biology* **20** : 2531–2539. DOI: 10.1111/gcb.12528.
- Busse MD, Beattie SE, Powers RF, Sanchez FG, Tiarks AE. 2006. Microbial community responses in forest mineral soil to compaction, organic matter removal, and vegetation control. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **36** : 577–588. DOI: 10.1139/x05-294.
- Carlson CA, Fox TR, Colbert SR, Kelting DL, Allen HL, Albaugh TJ. 2006. Growth and survival of Pinus taeda in response to surface and subsurface tillage in the southeastern United States. *Forest Ecology and Management* 234 : 209–217. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2006.07.002.
- Cellier A, Gauquelin T, Baldy V, Ballini C. 2014. Effect of organic amendment on soil fertility and plant nutrients in a post-fire Mediterranean ecosystem. *Plant and Soil* **376** : 211–228. DOI: 10.1007/s11104-013-1969-5.
- Cerdà A, Doerr SH. 2005. Influence of vegetation recovery on soil hydrology and erodibility following fire: An 11-year investigation. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **14** : 423–437. DOI: 10.1071/WF05044.
- Donato DC, Fontaine JB, Campbell JL, Robinson WD, Kauffman JB, Law BE. 2006. Post-Wildfire Logging Hinders Regeneration and Increases Fire Risk. *Science* **311** : 352.
- Donato DC, Fontaine JB, Kauffman JB, Robinson WD, Law BE. 2013. Fuel mass and forest structure following stand-replacement fire and post-fire logging in a mixed-evergreen forest. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **22** : 652–666. DOI: 10.1071/WF12109.
- Donato DC, Harvey BJ, Turner MG. 2016. Regeneration of montane forests 24 years afer the 1988 Yellowstone fires: A fire-catalyzed shif in lower treelines? *Ecosphere* **7** : 1–17. DOI: 10.1002/ecs2.1410/supinfo.

- Driscoll WC. 1996. Robustness of the ANOVA and Tukey-Kramer statistical tests. *Computers & Industrial Engineering* **31** : 265–268. DOI: 10.1016/0360-8352(96)00127-1.
- Edmonds RL, Chappell HN. 1994. Relationships between soil organic matter and forest productivity in western Oregon and Washington. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **24** : 1101–1106. DOI: 10.1139/x94-146.
- Flannigan M, Cantin AS, De Groot WJ, Wotton M, Newbery A, Gowman LM. 2013. Global wildland fire season severity in the 21st century. *Forest Ecology and Management* 294 : 54–61. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2012.10.022.
- Flannigan M, Stocks B, Turetsky M, Wotton M. 2009a. Impacts of climate change on fire activity and fire management in the circumboreal forest. *Global Change Biology* 15 : 549–560. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01660.x.
- Flannigan MD, Krawchuk MA, de Groot WJ, Wotton MB, Gowman LM. 2009b. Implications of changing climate for global wildland fire. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* 18: 483–507. DOI: 10.1071/WF08187.
- Francos M, Pereira P, Alcañiz M, Úbeda X. 2018. Post-wildfire management effects on shortterm evolution of soil properties (Catalonia, Spain, SW-Europe). Science of the Total Environment 633 : 285–292. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.195.
- Franklin J, Bergman E. 2011. Patterns of pine regeneration following a large, severe wildfire in the mountains of southern California. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 41 : 810– 821. DOI: 10.1139/x11-024.
- Franklin JF et al. 2002. Disturbances and structural development of natural forest ecosystems with silvicultural implications, using Douglas-fir forests as an example. *Forest Ecology and Management* **155** : 399–423. DOI: 10.1016/S0378-1127(01)00575-8.
- García-Orenes F, Arcenegui V, Chrenková K, Mataix-Solera J, Moltó J, Jara-Navarro AB, Torres MP. 2017. Effects of salvage logging on soil properties and vegetation recovery in a fire-affected Mediterranean forest: A two year monitoring research. *Science of the Total Environment* 586 : 1057–1065. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.02.090.
- Grier CC. 1975. Wildfire Effects on Nutrient Distribution and Leaching in a Coniferous Ecosystem. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **5** : 599–607.
- Hallema DW, Robinne F-N, Bladon KD. 2018. Reframing the Challenge of Global Wildfire Threats to Water Supplies. *Earth's Future* **6** : 772–776. DOI: 10.1029/2018EF000867.
- Hanley ME, Fenner M. 2010. Seedling Growth of Four Fire-Following Mediterranean Plant Species Deprived of Single Mineral Nutrients. *Functional Ecology* **11** : 398–405.
- Hessburg PF et al. 2016. Tamm Review: Management of mixed-severity fire regime forests in Oregon, Washington, and Northern California. *Forest Ecology and Management* **366** : 221–250. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2016.01.034.
- Hessburg PF, Agee JK, Franklin JF. 2005. Dry forests and wildland fires of the inland Northwest USA: Contrasting the landscape ecology of the pre-settlement and modern eras. *Forest Ecology and Management* **211** : 117–139. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2005.02.016.
- Hütsch BW, Augustin J, Merbach W. 2002. Plant rhizodeposition An important source for carbon turnover in soils. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* 165 : 397–407. DOI: 10.1002/1522-2624(200208)165:4<397::AID-JPLN397>3.0.CO;2-C.
- Johnson D, Murphy JD, Walker RF, Glass DW, Miller WW. 2007. Wildfire effects on forest carbon and nutrient budgets. *Ecological Engineering* **31** : 183–192. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoleng.2007.03.003.

- Johnson DW, Curtis PS. 2001a. Effects of forest management on soil C and N storage: meta analysis. *Forest Ecology and Management* **140** : 227–238. DOI: 10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00282-6.
- Johnson DW, Curtis PS. 2001b. Effects of forest management on soil C and N storage: Meta analysis. *Forest Ecology and Management* **140** : 227–238. DOI: 10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00282-6.
- Johnson DW, Murphy JF, Susfalk RB, Caldwell TG, Miller WW, Walker RF, Powers RF. 2005a. The effects of wildfire, salvage logging, and post-fire N-fixation on the nutrient budgets of a Sierran forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **220** : 155–165. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2005.08.011.
- Johnson DW, Murphy JF, Susfalk RB, Caldwell TG, Miller WW, Walker RF, Powers RF. 2005b. The effects of wildfire, salvage logging, and post-fire N-fixation on the nutrient budgets of a Sierran forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **220** : 155–165. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2005.08.011.
- Johnstone JF et al. 2016. Changing disturbance regimes, ecological memory, and forest resilience. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* **14** : 369–378. DOI: 10.1002/fee.1311.
- Karr JR, Rhodes JJ, Minshall GW, Hauer FR, Beschta RL, Frissell CA, Perry DA. 2004. The effects of postfire salvage logging on aquatic ecosystems in the American West. *Bioscience* 54 : 1029–1033. DOI: 10.1641/0006-3568(2004)054[1029:TEOPSL]2.0.CO;2.
- LeBauer DS, Treseder KK. 2008. Nitrogen limitation of net primary productivity in terrestrial ecosystems is globally distributed. *Ecology* **89** : 371–379.
- Leverkus AB et al. 2018. Salvage logging effects on regulating and supporting ecosystem services a systematic map. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **48** : 983–1000. DOI: 10.1139/cjfr-2018-0114.
- Lindenmayer DB, Burton PJ, Franklin JF. 2008. Salvage Logging and Its Ecological Consequences
- Lindenmayer DB, Foster DR, Franklin JF, Hunter ML, Noss RF, Schmiegelow FA, Perry D. 2004. Salvage Harvesting Policies After Natural Disturbance. *Science* **303** : 1303–1303. DOI: 10.1126/science.1093438.
- Littell JS, McKenzie D, Wan HY, Cushman SA. 2018. Climate Change and Future Wildfire in the Western United States: An Ecological Approach to Nonstationarity. *Earth's Future* 6 : 1097–1111. DOI: 10.1029/2018EF000878.
- Malvar MC, Silva FC, Prats SA, Vieira DCS, Coelho COA, Keizer JJ. 2017. Short-term effects of post-fire salvage logging on runoff and soil erosion. *Forest Ecology and Management* 400 : 555–567. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2017.06.031.
- Manzoni S, Trofymow JA, Jackson RB, Porporato A. 2010. Stocihiometric controls on carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus dynamics in decomposing litter. *Ecological Monographs* **80** : 89–106. DOI: 10.1890/09-0179.1.
- Marañón-Jiménez S, Castro J. 2013. Effect of decomposing post-fire coarse woody debris on soil fertility and nutrient availability in a Mediterranean ecosystem. *Biogeochemistry* **112** : 519–535. DOI: 10.1007/s10533-012-9744-x.
- Marañón-Jiménez S, Castro J, Fernández-Ondoño E, Zamora R. 2013a. Charred wood remaining after a wildfire as a reservoir of macro- and micronutrients in a Mediterranean pine

forest. International Journal of Wildland Fire 22: 681–695. DOI: 10.1071/WF12030.

- Marañón-Jiménez S, Castro J, Querejeta JI, Fernández-Ondoño E, Allen CD. 2013b. Post-fire wood management alters water stress, growth, and performance of pine regeneration in a Mediterranean ecosystem. *Forest Ecology and Management* **308** : 231–239. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2013.07.009.
- Marshall SE. 2016. Soil Characterization Report for Boggs Mountain Demonstration State Forest . Arcata, CA
- McLaughlin JW, Phillips SA. 2006. Soil carbon, nitrogen, and base cation cycling 17 years after whole-tree harvesting in a low-elevation red spruce (Picea rubens)-balsam fir (Abies balsamea) forested watershed in central Maine, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management* 222 : 234–253. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2005.10.033.
- Miller C, Urban DL. 2000. Modeling the effects of fire management alternatives on Sierra Nevada mixed-conifer forests. *Ecological Applications* **10** : 85–94. DOI: 10.1890/1051-0761(2000)010[0085:MTEOFM]2.0.CO;2.
- Miller JD, Safford HD, Crimmins M, Thode AE. 2009. Quantitative evidence for increasing forest fire severity in the Sierra Nevada and southern Cascade Mountains, California and Nevada, USA. *Ecosystems* 12 : 16–32. DOI: 10.1007/s10021-008-9201-9.
- Moritz MA, Parisien M-A, Batllori E, Krawchuk MA, Van Dorn J, Ganz DJ, Hayhoe K. 2012. Climate change and disruptions to global fire activity. *Ecosphere* **3** : art49. DOI: 10.1890/ES11-00345.1.
- Morris LA, Lowery RF. 1988. Influence of site preparation on soil conditions affecting stand establishment and tree growth. *Southern Journal of Applied Forestry* **12** : 170–178.
- Morris SE, Moses TA. 1987. Forest Fire and the Natural Soil Erosion Regime in the Colorado Front Range. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* **77** : 245–254.
- Müller J, Noss RF, Thorn S, Bässler C, Leverkus AB, Lindenmayer D. 2018. Increasing disturbance demands new policies to conserve intact forest. *Conservation Letters* : e12449. DOI: 10.1111/conl.12449.
- Murphy BP, Yocom LL, Belmont P. 2018. Beyond the 1984 Perspective: Narrow Focus on Modern Wildfire Trends Underestimates Future Risks to Water Security. *Earth's Future* DOI: 10.1029/2018EF001006.
- Neary DG, Ryan KC, DeBano LF. 2005. Wildland Fire in Ecosystems: Effects of fire on soil and water. *General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-42* **4**
- Niemeyer RJ, Bladon KD, Woodsmith RD. 2020. Long-term hydrologic recovery after wildfire and post-fire forest management in the interior Pacific Northwest. *Hydrological Processes* : 1182–1197. DOI: 10.1002/hyp.13665.
- Parro K, Köster K, Jõgiste K, Seglinš K, Sims A, Stanturf JA, Metslaid M. 2019. Impact of postfire management on soil respiration, carbon and nitrogen content in a managed hemiboreal forest. *Journal of Environmental Management* 233 : 371–377. DOI: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.12.050.
- Patel KF, Jakubowski MD, Fernandez IJ, Nelson SJ, Gawley W. 2019. Soil Nitrogen and Mercury Dynamics Seven Decades After a Fire Disturbance: a Case Study at Acadia National Park. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution* 230 DOI: 10.1007/s11270-019-4085-1.
- Pereg L, Mataix-Solera J, McMillan M, García-Orenes F. 2018. The impact of post-fire salvage logging on microbial nitrogen cyclers in Mediterranean forest soil. *Science of the Total Environment* 619–620 : 1079–1087. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.11.147.

- Perry DA, Hessburg PF, Skinner CN, Spies TA, Stephens SL, Taylor AH, Franklin JF, McComb B, Riegel G. 2011. The ecology of mixed severity fire regimes in Washington, Oregon, and Northern California. *Forest Ecology and Management* 262 : 703–717. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2011.05.004.
- Peterson DW, Dodson EK. 2016. Post-fire logging produces minimal persistent impacts on understory vegetation in northeastern Oregon, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management* 370: 56–64. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2016.04.004.
- Piirainen S, Finér L, Mannerkoski H, Starr M. 2002. Effects of forest clear-cutting on the carbon and nitrogen fluxes through podzolic soil horizons. *Plant and Soil* **239** : 301–311. DOI: 10.1023/A:1015031718162.
- Pingree MRA, DeLuca TH. 2018. The influence of fire history on soil nutrients and vegetation cover in mixed-severity fire regime forests of the eastern Olympic Peninsula, Washington, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management* **422** : 95–107. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2018.03.037.
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D, R Core Team. 2018. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models [online] Available from: https://cran.r-project.org/package=nlme
- Poirier V, Paré D, Boiffin J, Munson AD. 2014. Combined influence of fire and salvage logging on carbon and nitrogen storage in boreal forest soil profiles. *Forest Ecology and Management* 326 : 133–141. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2014.04.021.
- Powers EM, Marshall JD, Zhang J, Wei L. 2013. Post-fire management regimes affect carbon sequestration and storage in a Sierra Nevada mixed conifer forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* 291 : 268–277. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2012.07.038.
- Powers RF, Reynolds PE. 1999. Ten-year responses of ponderosa pine plantations to repeated vegetation and nutrient control along an environmental gradient. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **29** : 1027–1038. DOI: 10.1139/x99-104.
- Qiao Y, Miao S, Silva LCR, Horwath WR. 2014. Understory species regulate litter decomposition and accumulation of C and N in forest soils: A long-term dual-isotope experiment. *Forest Ecology and Management* **329** : 318–327. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2014.04.025.
- R Core Team. 2018. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. [online] Available from: https://www.r-project.org
- Reilly MJ, Dunn CJ, Meigs GW, Spies TA, Kennedy RE, Bailey JD, Briggs K. 2017. Contemporary patterns of fire extent and severity in forests of the Pacific Northwest, USA (1985-2010). *Ecosphere* 8 : e01695. DOI: 10.1002/ecs2.1695.
- Restaino CM, Peterson DL, Littell J. 2016. Increased water deficit decreases Douglas fir growth throughout western US forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **113** : 9557–9562. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1602384113.
- Robichaud PR, Beyers JL, Neary DG. 2000. Evaluating the Effectiveness of Postfire Rehabilitation Treatments . USDA Forest Service Rocky Mountain Research Station
- Robichaud PR, Brown RE. 2002. Silt Fences : An Economical Technique for Measuring Hillslope Soil Erosion. *General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-94* : 28.
- Robichaud PR, Wagenbrenner JW, Pierson FB, Spaeth KE, Ashmun LE, Moffet CA. 2016. Infiltration and interrill erosion rates after a wildfire in western Montana, USA. *Catena* 142 : 77–88. DOI: 10.1016/j.catena.2016.01.027.
- Seidl R, Rammer W, Spies TA. 2014. Disturbance legacies increase the resilience of forest

ecosystem structure, composition, and functioning. *Ecological Applications* **24** : 2063–2077.

- Shakesby RA. 2011. Post-wildfire soil erosion in the Mediterranean: Review and future research directions. *Earth-Science Reviews* **105** : 71–100. DOI: 10.1016/j.earscirev.2011.01.001.
- Shakesby RA, Coelho CDOA, Ferreira AD, Terry JP, Walsh RPD. 1993. Wildfire impacts on soil erosion and hydrology in wet Mediterranean forest, Portugal. *International Journal* of Wildland Fire 3 : 95–110. DOI: 10.1071/WF9930095.
- Shi M, Fisher JB, Brzostek ER, Phillips RP. 2016. Carbon cost of plant nitrogen acquisition: Global carbon cycle impact from an improved plant nitrogen cycle in the Community Land Model. *Global Change Biology* **22** : 1299–1314. DOI: 10.1111/gcb.13131.
- Smith HG, Sheridan GJ, Lane PNJ, Nyman P, Haydon S. 2011. Wildfire effects on water quality in forest catchments: A review with implications for water supply. *Journal of Hydrology* **396** : 170–192. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2010.10.043.
- Stevens-Rumann CS, Kemp KB, Higuera PE, Harvey BJ, Rother MT, Donato DC, Morgan P, Veblen TT. 2018. Evidence for declining forest resilience to wildfires under climate change. Lloret F (ed). *Ecology Letters* 21 : 243–252. DOI: 10.1111/ele.12889.
- Stevens-Rumann CS, Morgan P. 2019. Tree regeneration following wildfires in the western US: a review. *Fire Ecology* **15** : 1–17. DOI: 10.1186/s42408-019-0032-1.
- Taylor BR, Parkinson D, Parsons WFJ. 1989. Nitrogen and Lignin Content as Predictors of Litter Decay Rates: A Microcosm Test. *Ecological Society of America* **70** : 97–104. DOI: 10.1007/BF02205929.
- Urbanski S. 2014. Wildland fire emissions, carbon, and climate: Emission factors. *Forest Ecology and Management* **317** : 51–60. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2013.05.045.
- Vessey JK. 2003. Plant growth promoting bacteria as biofertilizer. Plant and Soil 255: 571–586.
- Vitousek PM, Howarth RW. 2016. Nitrogen Limitation on Land and in the Sea: How Can It Occur? *Biogeochemistry* **13** : 87–115.
- Wagenbrenner JW, Ebel BA, Bladon KD, Kinoshita A. n.d. A systematic review of post-wildfire hydrologic recovery in Mediterranean climates: Current knowledge, gaps, and opportunities. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*
- Wagenbrenner JW, MacDonald LH, Coats RN, Robichaud PR, Brown RE. 2015. Effects of postfire salvage logging and a skid trail treatment on ground cover, soils, and sediment production in the interior western United States. *Forest Ecology and Management* 335 : 176–193. DOI: 10.1016/j.foreco.2014.09.016.
- Van Der Werf GR, Randerson JT, Giglio L, Collatz GJ, Mu M, Kasibhatla PS, Morton DC, Defries RS, Jin Y, Van Leeuwen TT. 2010. Global fire emissions and the contribution of deforestation, savanna, forest, agricultural, and peat fires (1997-2009). *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* 10 : 11707–11735. DOI: 10.5194/acp-10-11707-2010.
- Westerling AL. 2016. Increasing western US forest wildfire activity: sensitivity to changes in the timing of spring. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **371** DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2015.0178.
- Will RE, Jacobson MA. 2002. II. Early Loblolly Pine Stand Response to Tillage on the Piedmont and Upper Coastal Plain of Georgia: Tree Allometry, Foliar Nitrogen Concentration, Soil Bulk Density, Soil Moisture, and Soil Nitrogen Status. *Southern Journal of Applied Forestry* 26 : 190–196.
- Wine ML, Cadol D, Makhnin O. 2018. In ecoregions across western USA streamflow increases

during post-wildfire recovery. *Environmental Research Letters* **13** DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/aa9c5a.

Wondzell SM, King JG. 2003. Postfire erosional processes in the Pacific Northwest and Rocky Mountain regions. *Forest Ecology and Management* **178** : 75–87. DOI: 10.1016/S0378-1127(03)00054-9.

3.6 Figures



Figure 3.1 Burn severity map of Boggs Mountain Demonstration State Forest (BMDSF) with rain gauges and locations of blocks of silt fences. Inset map shows location of 2015 Valley Fire in California.



Figure 3.2 Mean CN ratio and 95 % confidence intervals of soil at two depths (September 2018) and eroded sediment from silt fences (2018–2019). Letters show statistically significant differences at alpha = 0.05.



Figure 3.3 Mean carbon concentration (%) and 95% confidence intervals at two soil depths and in sediment. Letters show statistically significant differences at alpha = 0.05



Figure 3.4 Mean Nitrogen concentration (%) and 95 % confidence intervals in soils at two depths and sediment. Letters indicate statistically significant differences at alpha = 0.05.



Figure 3.5 Mean vegetation biomass and 95 % confidence intervals for three post-fire site types. Letters indicate statistically significant differences at alpha = 0.05.

4 Synthesis

Dramatic shifts in wildfire occurrence and severity, along with area burned, in many regions across the planet have increased the challenges associated with forest and water management. As such, to facilitate informed land and water management decisions, managers and policy makers require information regarding the effects of wildfires and the efficacy of various post-fire land management treatments. Thus, the objectives of our research were to improve understanding of the impacts of wildfire and post-fire land management (salvage logging, subsoiling, and herbicide application) on soil erosion, soil physical and hydraulic properties, soil carbon and nitrogen, and vegetation recovery after high severity fire. To do this, we collected data and samples through the first four post-fire years from the Boggs Mountain Demonstration State Forest, which was burned during the 2015 Valley Fire in Northern California. We also analyzed linkages between sediment yields and various drivers of erosion, including exposed bare soil, precipitation characteristics, soil bulk density, and canopy closure. Additionally, we analyzed relationships of soil carbon, nitrogen, and C:N ratios with wood and vegetation recovery. Our principal findings included the following:

Unexpectedly, sediment yields were greater from burned plots compared to salvage logged or subsoiled plots in water years 2017 and 2018. However, there were no differences in sediment yields between these site types four years after the wildfire 2019 (Figure 2.2). Plot sediment yields from salvage logged and subsoiled plots were similar in all years of measurement. We think higher rates of erosion in burned plots were related to lower ground cover and higher residual tree canopy cover. Burned plots had more exposed bare soil than salvage logged or subsoiled plots in 2017 and 2018, corresponding

with higher rates of erosion. Additionally, standing snags may have interacted with precipitation in a way that increased raindrop kinetic energy and promoted rainsplash erosion, which we observed during storm events. This idea is also supported by the presence of erosion pedestals, which we observed under burned snags and not in open areas (Figure 2.7).

- Subsoiling along the hillslope contour changed the microtopography of the hillslopes and created furrows, resulting in reduced sediment transport distances and sediment detention. Sediment yields from subsoiled plots, corrected for the contributing area to each fence, were higher than salvage logged plots, and in some instances were similar to burned (reference) sediment yields. We think soil disturbance caused by subsoiling has two influences on sediment yields: (1) subsoiling increased small scale erosion by increasing local slopes between ridges and furrows as well as by increasing soil availability for erosion, and (2) subsoiling created surface ridges and furrows that increased surface roughness and trapped sediment.
- We observed higher C:N ratios in soils and sediment in salvage logged and subsoiled plots compared to burned plots (Figure 3.2). We think elevated C:N ratios are related to increases in wood left on the soil surface by salvage logging operations, as evidenced by the strong positive correlation between wood cover and C:N ratios in sediment samples. Treatment-level differences in C:N ratios in the soil were primarily driven by differences in soil carbon (Figure 3.3), while differences in C:N ratios in the sediment were primarily driven by differences in sediment nitrogen (Figure 3.4).

We measured greater vegetation biomass in burned sites that salvage logged or subsoiled, but were not able directly link vegetation biomass with carbon or nitrogen in the soils.

83

This was unexpected considering the influence soil carbon and nitrogen can have on vegetation regeneration after fire. However, the treatment-level differences we saw in vegetation biomass responses were similar to treatment-level differences in soil C:N ratio responses, suggesting there may be some relationship between vegetation biomass and C:N ratio were not able to capture in this study.

Some limitations of our study included:

- Sample size and number of replicates in each treatment limited our statistical inference in this study. Our 25 sediment fences were initially unbalanced between site types as we had 5 burned plots, 12 salvage logged plots, and 8 subsoiled plots. After herbicide application, we had 5 burned plots and 4 plots representing each of the 5 post-fire management treatments. Thus, we ended up with more different site types than we had replicates of each treatment. Increasing our sample size and number of replicates within each treatment would have allowed our statistical inference to be more robust.
- Another limitation of the study was our inability to quantify sediment transport distance or trace sediment movement from hillslopes into our sediment fences. If we would have traced sediment transported from plots to our fences, we may have learned more about the processes behind sediment transport and how transport differed between burned, salvage logged, and subsoiled hillslopes. For example, splash erosion typically moves sediment a short distance over a large area, whereas rill erosion may move sediment long distances with concentrated flow. We think splash erosion was a primary contributor to sediment yields in burned plots due to evidence of erosion pedestals (Figure 2.7), and tracing sediment movement could have supported this theory. Understanding the process

behind sediment transport may elucidate differences in erosion between site types we were not able to see by only measuring sediment yields.

- Limited spatial and temporal extent of soil carbon and nitrogen sampling during this study made it difficult to understand linkages between vegetation recovery and soil nutrients. We only measured soil carbon and nitrogen and vegetation biomass on one hillslope during one summer, so we are unsure if these relationships hold on other hillslopes that may have different vegetation communities and soil types. We are also unsure how soil carbon and nitrogen may have changed over the course of this study. In addition, if we had been able to expand vegetation sampling to a large spatial extent, we may have been able to see differences in vegetation communities. At the small spatial scale we measured, species diversity was difficult to quantify as many vegetation quadrats had only one species.
- Another limitation of the third chapter of this research was that we only measured total carbon and total nitrogen concentrations in the soil. Expanding our measurements to include other plant nutrients such as phosphorous, potassium, calcium, etc. would have allowed us to create a more complete picture of soil fertility. Additionally, these soil measurements could be supplemented by measurements of foliar nutrition and plant growth.
- We were unable to understand effects of herbicide on erosion over the course of our study due to the late application of herbicide treatments on erosion plots. We were only able to see the effect of herbicide treatments on our plots in water year 2019, but by this time sediment yields had equalized between site types. Herbicide effects may have been more dramatic if herbicide was applied before the first year of measurement.

We think future research projects could modify our approach in the following ways:

- Subsoiling warrants more investigation as an erosion mitigation practice after fire and salvage logging in the longer term. We are only aware of one other study that investigated subsoiling as a post-fire and salvage logging erosion mitigation technique. Our results suggest subsoiling could mitigate erosion on burned and salvage logged hillslopes, but many questions remain as to its efficacy. We saw contributing areas to sediment fences change in subsoiled plots as ridges eroded and furrows filled with sediment. It remains unclear whether subsoiled plots would continue to have lower plot sediment yields over the long term. Additionally we are unsure if subsoiling would be effective on hillslopes with different gradients or soil types.
- Future research could expand on our soil and vegetation sampling procedures by starting soil sampling immediately after fire and salvage logging and repeating sampling across multiple post-fire years. This would elucidate how soil nutrients and vegetation recovery are linked in the immediate post-fire years, and how they change through time during post-fire vegetation recovery.
- Researchers should focus on differences between various salvage logging practices to
 understand how salvage logging affects erosion. We found a variety of erosion responses
 to post-fire salvage logging during our search of the literature, and we think some of the
 discrepancies between studies could be explained by better description of salvage logging
 techniques. Felling of trees at our site was performed by hand and boles were skidded
 with rubber tired or tracked skidders. Burned forests logged with different equipment and

practices (e.g. helicopter or cable based yarding) may have differences in soil disturbance and erosion compared to our site.

• Finally, future research could focus on linking hillslope erosion and in-stream sediment transport in burned forests. Measuring sediment transport in streams affected by similar post-fire management site types could elucidate how hillslope sediment transport translates into streams. This would allow researchers to directly link salvage logging impacts on aquatic ecosystems and water quality.